### **University of Vermont**

## **UVM ScholarWorks**

Graduate College Dissertations and Theses

**Dissertations and Theses** 

2016

## Correlates of Adherence to an Adolescent Weight Management Program: A Secondary Data Analysis

Meredith Walker Hanson University of Vermont

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/graddis



Part of the Nursing Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Hanson, Meredith Walker, "Correlates of Adherence to an Adolescent Weight Management Program: A Secondary Data Analysis" (2016). Graduate College Dissertations and Theses. 436. https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/graddis/436

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Dissertations and Theses at UVM ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate College Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of UVM ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@uvm.edu.

# CORRELATES OF ADHERENCE TO AN ADOLESCENT WEIGHT MANAGEMENT PROGRAM: A SECONDARY DATA ANALYSIS

#### A Thesis Presented

by

Meredith Walker Hanson

to

The Faculty of the Graduate College

of

The University of Vermont

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Specializing in Nursing

January, 2016

Defense Date: November 11, 2015 Thesis Examination Committee:

Jennifer Laurent, Ph.D, FNP-BC., Advisor Connie Tompkins, Ph.D., Chairperson Carol Buck-Rolland, Ed.D., APRN Cynthia J. Forehand, Ph.D, Dean of the Graduate College

#### **ABSTRACT**

The aim of this study was to determine the relationship between HRQOL and adherence to an adolescent weight management program and identify variables predictive of increased adherence which are critical to motivating engagement in weight management. This study was a non-experimental, retrospective secondary analysis from aggregate data collected as part of the REWARD Teens program, a weight management program for overweight and obese adolescents. Data from 37 subjects were included in this study. Subject adherence to the program was the primary outcome variable. There was no significant relationship between baseline adolescent or parent-proxy sub-scale or total HRQOL scores with program adherence. A significant positive relationship for improved adherence was found only when change in BMI (p=.023), change of parentproxy total PedsQL (p=.014), and change in child total PedsQL (p=.007) were present in the regression model. Body mass index and changes in both parent-proxy and child total HRQOL significantly affected attendance. Our findings suggest that baseline HRQOL does not affect program adherence. However, we identified a potentially novel interplay between variables predictive of program adherence. Future studies should focus on elucidating the mechanism by which these factors gained significance in the relationship with adherence when combined, perhaps as mediators or moderators, in order to identify interactions which may function as barriers or facilitators to adherence.

## **DEDICATION**

For the countless Pediatric patients and families who continue to inspire me in my nursing career and everyday endeavors.

For my parents, role models in life and in Pediatric practice, and my greatest supporters.

For my husband and his unwavering patience, love, and support.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Thank you to my family, friends, and peers for all of your love, encouragement, and comradery over the last several years.

Thank you for the tremendous guidance and support of my committee members throughout this endeavor. I am especially grateful to Dr. Connie Tompkins for her generosity in sharing the REWARD Teens program and to Dr. Jennifer Laurent for so generously offering her time, expertise, and shared passion in obesity care and research.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Theoretical Framework	6
Purpose	7
Research Question	7
Hypothesis	7
Significance	7
Implications for Advanced Practice Nursing	9
CHAPTER 2: COMPREHENSIVE LITERATURE REVIEW	11
Psychosocial Correlates of Obesity	12
Quality of Life	13
Psychological Correlates of Obesity	16
Mediators of BMI and HRQOL: Body Image and Self-Esteem	20
Interventions for Obesity Treatment	23
Expert and consensus statements regarding components of effective interven	ntions23
Lifestyle Intervention Impact on Biometrics (BP, lipids, BMI)	24
Programs Which Measured Both Biometric and Psychosocial Impacts	25
Adherence	30
Readiness for Change	42

Summary of Review of Literature	43
Correlates of Adherence to an Adolescent weight management program	45
Abstract	45
Introduction	46
Methods	47
Measures	48
Statistical Analysis	49
Results	49
Discussion	50
Limitations	53
Conclusion	53
Declaration of Interest.	54
References	57
Comprehensive Bibliography	62

## LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Page
Table 1: Characteristics Between Adolescents at Baseline and at Completion of	
Program.	55
Table 2: Relationship Between Body Mass Index, Change in Child HRQOL and	
Parent-Proxy Total HRQOL and Adherence (n=13).	56

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

Childhood obesity is a major and growing worldwide concern. A global survey of data bases and literature review demonstrate significant increases in obesity over the past 30 years, with recent higher rates in the developing world than in the developed world. Contributing factors are increased caloric intake (Swinburn et al., 2009; Briefal, 2004), changes in diet composition (Astrup & Brand-Miller, 2012), decreasing levels of physical activity (Hill & Peters, 2013; Swinburn, 2013), and changes in the gut microbiome (Tile & Kaser, 2011; Turnbough et al., 2006). The World Health Organization estimates that by 2020 over 60% of the global disease burden will be the result of obesity-related disorders (Ng et al., 2014). Although overall global obesity rates are higher in adults than in children, in the U.S., Brazil, China, and other countries, the obesity rates have increased at a faster rate in children than in adults (Popkin, 2006).

Childhood obesity is even greater in the developed world. In North America, where the rate has tripled over the past 30 years, 32% of North American children are now overweight and between 11.7% and 16.9% are obese (Roberts et al., 2012; Ogden et al.). In the United States, obesity rates for children 2-19 years of age more than tripled between 1980 and 2010 (Fryar et al., 2010). According to the most recent National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), 16.9% of 2-19 year olds in the U.S. were obese and 31.7% were overweight or obese. Estimates of childhood obesity tend to be higher in the U.S. than in other countries (Ogden et al.). Alarmingly, the prevalence increased with age from 12.1% among ages two-five; 18 % among ages six-11, and 18.4% among ages 12-19 years (Ogden et al.).

Obese children and teens are more likely to become obese adults (Whitaker, 1997), and obesity in adults has been strongly correlated with increased mortality and obesity-related co-morbidities such as hyperlipidemia, hypertension, heart disease, diabetes, and joint problems (Reilly, 2003). Whitaker et al. (1997) reported that after adjustment for parental obesity, the odds ratio of persistence of obesity into adulthood among obese 15-17 year-olds was 17.5 times higher compared to non-obese subjects, and that 79% of obese 10-14 year-olds with at least one obese parent remained obese in adulthood. Among older children, obesity was found to be an increasingly important predictor of future adult obesity regardless of parental obesity. This indicates that adolescence is a critical period for increased risk for obesity persisting into adulthood.

Obesity is detrimental to both the physical and psychosocial health of youth in a critical developmental stage (Reilly & Kelly, 2010). Childhood obesity can reduce life expectancy by two-five years (Ludwig, 2007). Obese children are more likely to have type II diabetes, formerly an affliction that arose almost exclusively in adulthood. Further obese children are at increased risk for orthopedic and sleep problems, cardiovascular disease, and metabolic syndrome (Reilly & Kelly, 2010). In 2010, 3.8% of disability-adjusted life-years (DALYS) were attributable to obesity (Ng et al., 2014).

An analysis of data conducted by the National Center for Education Statistics from a nationally representative sample of 21, 260 U.S. children found that fewer than one in five children, identified as obese or overweight in kindergarten, were normal weight by the fifth grade (Hernandez et al., 2015). Further, Cunningham et al. (2014) reported that children at the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile of body mass index (BMI) at age five had a

6% probability of being obese at age 14 while 72% of children who were at the 99<sup>th</sup> percentile at age five were still obese by the end of 8<sup>th</sup> grade. Collectively, this suggests that children who were obese from a young age remained obese into adolescence and adulthood, in contrast to normal weight children of whom few became obese adults. This persistent obesity predicts a heavy burden of cardiovascular, endocrine, and psychological disease.

Negative obesity-related consequences are not confined to physical comorbidities, disability, and increased mortality, but also include psychosocial and economic effects which persist into adulthood. Gortmaker et al. (1993) conducted a retrospective study (n=10,039) of 16-24 year old women who had been overweight in adolescence, evaluating social and economic characteristics eight years later. In young adulthood, these women reported fewer years of school, lower household incomes, higher rates of poverty (10% higher), and were less likely to be married compared with normal-weight women with other chronic conditions. Negative obesity-related consequences are not confined to physical co-morbidities, disability and increased mortality, but also include psychosocial and economic effects. Findings were independent of baseline intelligence aptitude and socio-economic status (SES). Men overweight at baseline were 11% less likely to be married. This suggests that early overweight status may have a proportionately greater long-term impact on quality of life.

The physical, emotional, and social consequences of the childhood obesity epidemic places a heavy burden on global medical and economic resources, both during childhood and with the onset of obesity related chronic illness and disability afflicting

them as obese adults. The economic burden includes medical and hospitalization costs and economic losses attributed to school and work absenteeism due to illness and disability (Finkelstein et al., 2009; Finkelstein et al., 2014). An economic analysis found that individuals with obesity have 30% greater medical costs than individuals with normal-weight (Withrow & Alter, 2011).

Significant psychosocial impairments such as depression, anxiety, low selfimage or self-esteem have been correlated with childhood obesity (Hillman, 2010; Kubzansky, 2012; Lawler, 2011). These comorbidities are pronounced in adolescence, a period of rapid developmental change and transition. During this stage, self-image and social, emotional, and school functioning are vulnerable, especially for obese adolescents (Hillman, 2010; Morrison, 2015; Pruder & Munsch, 2010; Puhl, 2012). Psychosocial correlates in obesity are associated with lower quality of life (Jansen, 2013; Ottava, 2012, Ul-Haq, 2013) and are consistently lower in overweight and obese children (Schwimmer et al., 2003; Wake et al., 2002; Swallen, 2005). Quality of life (QOL) has been shown to correlate inversely with the degree of adiposity (Ul-Haq, 2012; Jansen, 2013; Keating, 2011; Williams, 2005). Poor social-emotional functioning has been associated with unhealthy increasing BMI trajectory over time (Chang, 2013; Cameron, 2012). While it has been well documented that obesity is associated with lower health-related quality of life (HRQOL) (Kolodziejczyk, 2015), causality has often been difficult to establish related to methodological limitations (Cameron, 2012). Research has focused generally on HRQOL as a consequence of obesity, but a bi-directional or cyclical relationship has been suggested (Jansen, 2013; Pruder & Munsch, 2010). While increasing obesity has

been correlated with deteriorating physical and emotional HRQOL over five years in adults, low HRQOL was also demonstrated to predict weight gain over that time (Cameron, 2012). Well-being, measured by various HRQOL instruments has been identified as integral to motivating engagement in weight management for children and adolescents (Hoyt, 2012; Pitrou, 2010). Impaired social relationships are shown to be affected by adolescent obesity (Rancout & Prinstein, 2010; Puhl, 2012), and such impairment has been shown to persist into young adulthood (Loth, 2011). Thus, it is essential to develop evidence-based interventions to enhance engagement in weight management programs and to optimize psychosocial well-being.

Evidence-based interventions for obesity treatment including nutrition, exercise, and individualized motivational counseling may positively impact not only obesity-related biometrics, physiologic measures, and weight outcomes, but also psychosocial and quality of life (Bock, 2014; Sacher, 2010). Moreover, improvements in quality of life have been shown even in the absence of BMI or other biometric marker changes, further emphasizing the importance of including psychosocial and quality of life measures as primary outcomes (Skelton, 2011).

Attrition rates in intervention programs have been high, ranging from 4-83%, with a mean of 41% (Dhaliwal, 2014). Adherence (i.e. participation rates) has been an impediment to successful completion of weight loss interventions (Skelton & Beech 2011). Adherence has been shown to correlate with successful biometric and psychosocial outcomes in obesity interventions (Rice, 2008; Patrick, 2006; Dhaliwal, 2014). Therefore, it is essential to investigate and better understand the factors that

influence adherence. Health-related quality of life, which broadly encompasses physical, social, and emotional well-being and school functioning, may help to identify individual and family factors that predict optimal intervention participation and adherence thus optimizing weight status and other fitness measures.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework used in this study was Albert Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) (1986). Bandura states that belief in one's personal efficacy plays a seminal role in personal change and "is the foundation of human motivation and action" (*Ibid*, p. 144). Social cognitive theory posits that beliefs related to one's selfefficacy determine the strength of commitment to health-related goals and impact the duration of perseverance despite difficulty, failures, and resilience to difficulties (Bandura, 1998). Bandura defines the core theoretical determinants as knowledge of health risks and benefits of a given health problem, perceived self-efficacy that one can exercise control over ones health habits, outcome expectations, individually-determined health goals, and social impediments and facilitators to change (Bandura, 2004). In addition to individual factors, SCT includes social and structural determinants of health, such as parental and family support and peer and social relationships, a multi-faceted structure impacting the "acquisition of competencies that can profoundly affect physical and emotional well-being as well as the self-regulation of health habits" (Bandura, 1998, p.2).

#### **Purpose**

The purpose of this study was to determine the relationship between HRQOL and adherence to a weight management program and to identify psychosocial factors which may affect adherence in a multidisciplinary, behaviorally- and family-based adolescent obesity intervention. Secondarily, the purpose was to compare profiles of adolescents who completed the program to those who did not.

#### **Research Question**

To investigate the study hypotheses, the primary research questions were as follows: (1) How does HRQOL correlate with adherence in the REWARD Teens adolescent weight management program

The specific aims for this study were: (1) Determine the relationship between adolescent HRQOL and adherence. (2) Determine the relationship between HRQOL as perceived by parent and adherence. (3) To compare parent and child perceptions of child's HRQOL.

#### **Hypothesis**

Stemming from SCT, the *a priori* study hypothesis was that adolescents with low HRQOL were less likely to adhere to a weight management program. Conversely, we expected that adolescents with greater HRQOL would have better adherence, attendance, and outcomes at completion of the 12-week program.

#### Significance

Poor rates of adherence to evidence-based adolescent obesity interventions are major barriers to alleviating adolescent obesity and its physical and psychosocial health

consequences (Dhaliwal et al., 2014). Health-related quality of life, a measure of social, physical, and emotional functioning, has been shown to be lower in obese children and adolescents than leaner children and adolescents. Identifying psychosocial factors that have previously been found to predict poor adherence to treatment may permit targeted individual assessments that could be instituted prior to obesity program enrollment.

Awareness of known predictors of poor adherence prior to enrollment might improve adherence, improve psychosocial and biometric outcomes, and inform the design of future evidence-based adolescent weight management programs.

Increased knowledge of psychosocial factors related to poor adherence to a weight management program could aid advanced practice registered nurses (APRNs) in identifying barriers to successful weight management for their adolescent patients. Further, this allows the APRN to highlight areas which might require specific psychosocial interventions. Successful management to reduce overweight and obesity is critical to preventing chronic illnesses. Successful interventions are important for containing escalating obesity-related health-care costs. Due to the expense and time of treatment programs, it is important to identify participants who have a greater likelihood of successful outcomes.

Identifying adolescent psychosocial correlates of treatment adherence and optimal participant profiles may assist clinicians and researchers to improve adherence and outcomes by individually tailoring weight management strategies by including psychosocial interventions. Parental assessment of the child's HRQOL may add to identification of psychosocial factors that affect adherence and success. In addition,

parental perception of the severity of the psychosocial aspects of obesity on their child could positively impact their willingness to ensure child participation.

#### **Implications for Advanced Practice Nursing**

The increasing prevalence of obesity and associated sequelae of cardiovascular, orthopedic, and psychosocial co-morbidities requires team-based, multi-disciplinary prevention and management strategies of chronic disease in both primary care and specialty settings. Advance practice registered nurses, including licensed Nurse Practitioners (NPs), are uniquely prepared to manage this challenge. Their education and training emphasize a perspective on "the whole patient" whose health and wellness is impacted by family, community, workplace, culture and spirituality.

The NP core competencies are guidelines and essential core behaviors by which the NP's education prepares the individual for full independent clinical competence. The ability to critically analyze data and evidence allow improvement of nursing practice. Translating research and other forms of knowledge to enhance patient outcomes, and developing new practice approaches based on the integration of theory, research, and practice knowledge, are all critical to the APRN's success in effectively caring for obese and overweight children and adolescents in the future (NONPF, 2012).

The competencies of utilizing the best known evidence to improve the quality of clinical practice, as well as generating knowledge from practice to guide and improve patient outcomes, are integral skills to direct management of chronic disease in primary care. Findings from this study are important in the identification of psychosocial factors as both predictors, barriers to remediation, and/or prevention of obesity and outcomes of

overweight and obesity. Leadership in translating such new knowledge into clinical settings, whether primary care, specialty or weight management programs, requires the core competency of practice inquiry.

The independent practice competency is essential to understanding quality of life issues and the effective management of deficits which act as a barrier to the patient's successful engagement in behavioral change interventions. In doing so, the APRN should "provide the full spectrum of health care services to include health promotion, disease prevention, health protection, anticipatory guidance, counseling, and disease management" (NONPF, 2012, p. 4). Negotiating a mutually acceptable plan of care with respect, collaboration and empathy, is critical to engaging the obese adolescent and family in sustainable change.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

Obesity is a complex disease, with many aspects and contributing factors, including socio-economic status, gender, and ethnicity. The purpose of this review is to explore the current state of knowledge concerning psychosocial correlates of obesity, both as primary outcome measures, but also as possible predictors of positive outcomes and other fitness measures. What follows is a review of literature of psychosocial correlates of obesity and outcomes and design of interventions including psychosocial and health-related quality of life measures. The impact of psychosocial factors, including parental motivation for change and parental assessment of adolescent's commitment to change on adherence and the association of adherence with achieving positive outcomes are also reviewed. The 2009 Cochrane review (Oude, 2009) advocated investigation of psychosocial determinants for behavior change leading to improved weight status.

Research prior to 2003 has used single-outcome measures to assess the combined impact of obesity on children's psychosocial and physical well-being, self-esteem, glucose intolerance, and/or changes in BMI. Subsequently, researchers have attempted to evaluate the impact of elevated BMI or adiposity more broadly using comprehensive measures of physical, emotional, social, school or occupational functioning, in other words, overall quality of life. Various measures have been utilized to evaluate essential elements of obesity interventions to assess psychosocial factors reflected in quality of life related to illness. Health-related quality of life (HRQOL) is defined by the World Health Organization (WHO, 1948) as a subset of quality of life directly related to an individual's health, including physical, mental, and social well-being.

Positive outcomes in measures of adiposity, psychosocial parameters, and quality of life have been demonstrated in many studies, but poor retention and participation rates, and adherence to behavior change has continued to present a major barrier to achieving long-term benefits for many obese adolescents (Dhaliwal et al., 2014). Therefore, it is critical to better understand the psychosocial correlates associated with adherence to support individuals at risk of poor adherence. While environmental, family, and demographic variables are important, this study examined individual psychosocial and functional characteristics correlated with adherence and obesity.

#### **Psychological Correlates of Obesity**

Obese children and adolescents are at increased risk of developing significant impairments in QOL and psychosocial functioning. A systematic review examined the relationship between obesity and obesity-related behaviors with neurocognitive functioning in youth (Liang et al., 2014). They found an inverse correlation between executive functioning, attention, visual-spatial performance, and motor skills. Authors cautioned that directionality of the relationship was unclear (Liang et al., 2014). These cognitive impairments may impact school and social functioning.

Pruder & Munsch (2010) identified eleven studies that found clear associations between obesity and psychological distress, including internalizing problems (i.e. anxiety, depression, isolation, and withdrawal) and externalizing behaviors (i.e. hyperactivity, problematic conduct, peer conflict, low self-esteem, and impaired social functioning). Pitrou et al. (2010) conducted a study of 1,030 French 6-11 year-olds of whom were overweight (17.3%) or obese (3.3%). They reported that children whose

parents reported poor peer relationships were twice as likely (adjusted OR 2.06) as those with reported normal peer relationships to be overweight. Anxiety was the only self-reported psychosocial symptom found to be associated. This study supports the psychosocial burden of obesity and overweight, even in young children and adolescents.

#### **Quality of Life**

Ul-Haq et al. (2013) conducted a meta-analysis between 2003-2011 to evaluate the association BMI and HRQOL among children and adolescents less than 20 years of age. Included were 11 studies from the U.S., Australia, Scotland, the Netherlands, Israel, and England. Only three of these studies analyzed focused solely on the adolescent age group, making the results less generalizable to adolescents. The authors found that both physical and psychosocial health-related quality of life were significantly reduced in obese children and adolescents. Quality of life decreased as the degree of overweight increased and HRQOL in all domains was significantly reduced in obese children (p<0.001). Weaker associations in clinically overweight children (p=.012 summary scores; p= .084 psychosocial scores) were found as well. Total parental scores of children's HRQOL showed greater reduction (p< .001). Overall HRQOL, as well as physical and psychosocial domains, were directly related to degree of overweight, with smaller reductions in overweight than in obese children. Inferences in causality are limited as the majority of studies were cross-sectional. Thus, one cannot interpret to what extent reduced HROOL preceded or was subsequent to obesity onset. In an adult study Ul-Haq et al. (2012) found that quality of life was significantly reduced only in morbidly obese adults (BMI>40 kg/m2), but not in overweight adults (BMI 25-29). The authors

deduced that the psychosocial consequences of increased BMI may be greater in children than in adults, supporting the urgency to further examine the relationship of HRQOL both as a primary outcome of obesity interventions and as a possible barrier to adherence to such interventions.

A secondary data analysis (Ottova et al, 2012) evaluated 13,041 children and adolescents aged 8-18 years from ten European countries participating in the KIDSCREEN Health Interview Survey. Overweight children (14.2 %) in all countries had lower HRQOL scores than normal-weight children, with the most significant determinant being physical well-being (effect size 0.12) and self-perception (effect size 0.021), independent of age or gender. Poland and the United Kingdom (U.K.) demonstrated smaller effects of social acceptance and bullying domains in overweight children (effect size 0.006). Compared to children (age 8-11 years), adolescents (age 12-18 years) showed higher rates of overweight (51.1% vs. 48.9%, p $\leq$  0.001) and lower HRQOL on physical well-being and self-perception, but slightly higher HRQOL on social acceptance and bullying, demonstrating the importance of studying these age groups as separate cohorts. A positive correlation between HRQOL and depressive symptoms in obese adolescents and the importance of measuring body fat rather than weight or BMI alone, as it was the only consistent correlate of HRQOL. Countries used different sampling techniques, including telephone sampling, school surveys and inschool administration, and school surveys followed by mail, resulting in a wide range of response rates (24.2-91.2%) and possibly skewing the data. Parent-reported heights and weights were used to calculate BMIs and to classify children as overweight, presenting a significant limitation of potential bias (Goodman et al., 2000). Strengths included use of internationally accepted BMI cut-points norms, use of a standardized, validated measure of HRQOL, and a large multi-country community- and school-based population database, all of which facilitated making more accurate comparisons and results generalizable to European children and adolescents over age eight.

Keating et al. (2011) conducted a cross-sectional analysis by of 2,890 adolescents in Pacific Obesity Prevention Project communities in Australia. Overweight and obese adolescents (mean age 14.6) reported significantly lower HRQOL in physical and social functioning, while obese adolescents reported additional low emotional functioning. In terms of age and sex, girls and adolescents younger than 15 reported more significant reductions in HRQOL with excess weight.

A retrospective analysis of the population-based Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (LSAC, N=3,898) identified an inverse relationship between overweight and HRQOL was evident by 6-7 years of age (Jansen et al., 2013). Significant associations between poorer HRQOL, physical, psychosocial health, and obesity developed by 8-9 years, and was even greater at 9-10 years. Cumulative impacts were evident. The duration a child was overweight between ages 4 and 11 predicted progressively poor scores for both physical and psycho-social health at 10-11 years of age (p values ≤0.001). Children with poor physical health trended toward higher mean BMI at age 10-11 years, but the association was small and inconsistent over time. The relationship between physical poor health and psychosocial function was even weaker. This appears to indicate that

overweight and obesity in childhood may lead to worsening HRQOL rather than the reverse.

Schwimmer et al. (2003) evaluated HRQOL in 106 obese children and adolescents ages 5-18 years (mean 12.1 years) in both healthy children and in children with cancer on chemotherapy. Obese children and adolescents were more likely to have lower HRQOL than healthy children and adolescents (OR=5.5) and were similar to children and adolescents with cancer (OR =1.3). The obese children and adolescents reported significantly lower HRQOL (P<0.001) compared with healthy children and adolescents. A longitudinal cohort study (Williams et al., 2005) in Australia of gradeschool children found that both perceived parent and child HRQOL decreased with increasing child weight (p≤.001). Decreases in physical and social functioning were significant (p≤.001) but decreases in emotional and school by weight were not significant. Effects were smaller than those reported in Schwimmer's (2003). Taken together, these studies demonstrated that impaired HRQOL, manifested in both physical and psychosocial functioning, was significant in childhood and adolescent obesity.

#### **Psychological Correlates of Obesity**

Morrison et al. (2015) conducted a cross-sectional study to explore individual, family, and biological determinants of depressive symptoms and HRQOL in a large Canadian population of obese 8-17 year olds (n=242) seeking treatment. Measures of depression and HRQOL, BMI, and adiposity using dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) were measured. Thirty-six percent of children were classified as depressed. No differences in age, sex, pubertal development or family history of depression were found.

Multivariate regression analysis identified higher household income as a predictor of lower rates of depression [OR 0.79; CI 95%]. Adiposity, but not BMI, was weakly associated with increased risk of depression [OR 1.08 (CI 95%)]. All domain scores in HRQOL were lower in the depressed group compared to the non-depressed group (p≤ 001). The HRQOL was related to age, but not pubertal status, and inversely related to degree of adiposity measured by either BMI or percent body fat. The degree of obesity was also inversely related to each domain of HRQOL except to school functioning. Physical and emotional function domains were related only to degree of obesity. Percent body fat was the most consistent mediator of HRQOL, and was the only variable related to the total HRQOL and the physical functioning. For every 1% increase in body fat, the total PedsQL score declined by .06, the physical functioning score by 0.82, and the social domain score by 1.22. No correlates of the emotional functioning domain were found. Obese adolescents had a higher rate of depression, 36.4%, compared to general adolescent population at rates of 5-8%. This is at the upper end of the range (4-33%) reported in previous studies (Van et al., 2009). These findings suggest that broader HRQOL measures of psychological functioning, may cast a wider net that captures psycho-social functional deficits. Thus, it is important, to have more specific measures such as depression screening instruments. Limitations of the study were a cross-sectional design, which prevents inferences of causality. The sample was an obesity treatmentseeking group from Canada that may limit generalizability and may not reflect the population as a whole.

Hillman et al. (2010) evaluated the association between anxiety and depressive symptoms and obesity in 198 healthy female adolescents recruited from an outpatient teen clinic and surrounding community of a large Midwestern city, at age 11, 13, 15, and 17 years. Approximately 39% of the teens were overweight or obese. Adiposity was determined by DXA and BMI. The authors found a positive association of trait anxiety and depressive symptoms with both BMI and adiposity independent of age, race, and Tanner stage. Thus, symptoms of anxiety and depression were associated with adiposity among female adolescents, connecting psychological distress with adiposity. For each increase of one standard deviation for anxiety, there was an associated 0.78 unit increase in BMI and 1.03 unit increase in percentage body fat. This study suggests that as BMI increases, so do anxiety and depression. Therefore, these characteristics should be appropriately assessed and addressed. Since this study was cross-sectional, further investigation is needed to determine cause and effect and directional influences. Significant positive associations were also found between depressive symptoms and BMI (p=.002), percentage body fat (p=.004), and fat distribution (p=.03). Together with Morrison et al. (2015) these findings suggest that clinical anxiety and depression symptoms exist in both community and treatment samples of obese adolescents. Limitations included the absence of males and the small number of non-White participants, limiting its generalizability. It would be important to know if QOL measures adequately identify anxiety because of its association with adolescent obesity.

To evaluate the relationship between psychological distress and BMI trajectory, Kubzansky et al. (2012) used growth mixture modeling in a sample of 1,528 subjects to

between 2001 and 2005 from a longitudinal school-based study of cardio-metabolic risk in Greater Cincinnati. Psychological distress (i.e. depression and anxiety) and BMI were measured every four years. At baseline, Blacks reported both greater depressive symptoms and had greater BMI. Females reported higher levels of distress and post-pubertal female subjects had greater BMI. Anxiety and depressive symptoms overall were similar to those reported in other populations of children and adolescents (Cujpers et al., 2008; Sawyer et al., 2009). Subjects did not cross BMI cut points annually over four years. Despite the prospective longitudinal design, it was unclear if levels of anxiety and depression at baseline predicted increasing levels of obesity over time. Thus, the study was not able to establish whether psychological distress led to greater weight gain. However, this study suggests that obese Black children and obese females are more likely to have more psychological distress related to their weight status.

Chang et al. (2013) conducted a secondary data analysis to examine weight status stability and change across adolescence of a U.S. nationally representative sample of children (n=6,220; 66% White non-Hispanic; 16% Hispanic; 8% African-American; average age 11.23 years). Methods included standardized teacher and child self-report of social and emotional development. Social emotional functioning at fifth grade significantly predicted weight status stability or change by the eighth grade. Children with internalizing behaviors (anxiety and depression), poor peer relations, and/or higher levels of anger on teacher report were more likely to move into a higher BMI percentile. However, a potential confounder was as children move through adolescence their

behaviors became less observable to parents as they spend more time outside the home and view of parents. This study further supports previous findings that the quality of a child's social and emotional functioning in school may be a significant factor in weight trajectory during adolescence.

Higher rates of social rejection, stigmatization, and weight victimization, have been frequently reported by obese youth. Rancourt & Prinstein (2010) reported impaired social peer relationships of obese children in a longitudinal study of 576 North Carolina 10-14 year olds. The authors used sociometric peer nomination scores derived from peer responses to assess likability and popularity. They found lower BMI to be associated with increased likeability (p<.01) and higher BMI to be associated with an increase in negative weight-related cognitions (p<.01).

Puhl et al. (2012) examined ways that overweight adolescents cope with weight-based victimization at school. Of an initial sample of 1,555 Connecticut students, 394 students reported weight-based victimization (mean age 16.4%; 56% female; 84% white). Of the 394 adolescents, 50% reported feelings of sadness, depression, anger or fear and feeling worse about themselves. Maladaptive coping mechanisms were associated with increased overweight and included skipping gym, increasing food intake, and binge eating. Collectively, these studies support that overweight/obesity is associated with increased psychological distress and main impair HRQOL.

#### Mediators of BMI and HRQOL: Body Image and Self-Esteem

Previous studies have demonstrated psychosocial distress and poor emotional well-being not only with overweight, but also with shape and weight. Kolodziejczyk et al

(2015) evaluated the relationship between individual and environmental variables on the relationship between BMI and HRQOL in two interventions aimed at reducing weight in overweight and obese adolescents at risk of DM type 2. The sample (n=205) was mostly female, ae 12-16, and Latino with low SES (household income below \$25,000). The first arm used a computer-supported intervention in primary care settings. The second arm used the Intervention for Youth at Risk for Diabetes (PACE-iDP) protocol. Their analysis found that both body image and to a lesser degree self-esteem explained the inverse relationship between BMI and HRQOL, while neither depression nor environmental factors proved to be mediators. In contrast, Stern et al. (2007) found that depression, as well as low self-esteem, was associated with lower HRQOL in obese adolescents, and that self-esteem mediated the relationship between weight-related teasing and HRQOL relationship between weight-related teasing and HRQOL. Ali et al. (2010) found that self-perception of weight was more strongly associated with depression than actual weight. They concluded that obesity was not a predictor of depression, but that depression was related to impaired HRQOL. This suggests that selfimage and self-perception, though related to HRQOL, may provide more specific targets for remediation.

Gouveia et al. (2014) investigated psychosocial correlates in obese adolescents. They reported body image dissatisfaction was a mediator between obesity and HRQOL. Weight status was inversely associated with body image dissatisfaction at 8-18 years. Obese adolescents, age 10-12 years, appeared more vulnerable for the development of body image dissatisfaction. Obesity was inversely related to health-related quality of life

in children less than 8 years. Higher levels of internalizing and externalizing behaviors were seen in these obese adolescents than were found in non-obese populations. Higher body image dissatisfaction was not associated with these characteristics. The authors conclude that inclusion of body image-related assessments and intervention components in studies of obese pre-adolescents and adolescents are needed. Also important are studies that investigate psychosocial correlates and determinants of obesity to further the understanding of the contribution of body image dissatisfaction to lower HRQOL seen in obese children. Tailoring specific therapy for body image dissatisfaction may be integral to affective treatment.

The impact of adolescent overweight and negative emotional well-being has been shown to persist into early adulthood. Long-term implications for quality of life and psychological sequelae have been established. The literature suggest an interplay between psychological distress and obesity. Psychological distress may foster weight gain, and obesity may produce psychosocial problems for affected children. In summary, early detection of psychological factors that contribute to developing and maintaining overweight and obesity is essential to improve prevention and intervention efforts. Data has been contradictory due to heterogeneous samples, study design, and inconsistent quantitative measures used. Controlled, longitudinal, widely representative studies using standardized definitions for childhood obesity and consistency in standardized psychological measurement instruments would enhance generalizability and comparability of the outcomes.

#### **Interventions for Obesity Treatment**

Overweight and obesity is frequently correlated with psychological distress and lower quality of life than in non-obese peers. Effectiveness of intervention programs should be measured not only by anthropomorphic measures, but also by improvements in HRQOL and other psychological comorbidities such as depression and anxiety.

#### **Expert and Consensus Statements Regarding Components of Effective Interventions**

An expert panel (Barlow et al., 2007) was convened to evaluate recommendations for components of evidence-based pediatric obesity management. The panel recommended that interventions should be family-based and multi-dimensional and should promote healthy lifestyle changes through education, motivational counseling, and family involvement. The authors suggested that with older youth the focus should be increasingly on the adolescent, but that parents need to continue to provide a supportive environment and mutual commitment to these goals. The authors acknowledged that parental involvement should be progressively less for older youth and that there should be an increasing focus on the adolescent, with parents providing a supportive home environment.

Hoare et al. (2015) conducted a systematic review of mental health and well-being outcomes in community-based obesity prevention interventions for adolescents.

Only seven of 46 eligible studies reviewed targeted adolescents ages 10-19 and incorporated validated measures of mental health and wellness measures. They found that validated measures of mental health and well-being could improve identification of mechanisms that influence adolescent weight-related outcomes, as well as ensuring the

interventions are not causing harm to adolescents' mental health. Consequently, the authors strongly recommended that the mental health be a primary outcome measure for obesity intervention programs.

Evidence-based recommendations for family-centered, multi-disciplinary weight management interventions should last at least one year (Barlow et al., 2007). Research has attempted to define to define the optimal components and setting for child and adolescent weight loss interventions that would result in continued participation, retention of obese adolescents, and lead to improved measures of adiposity and fitness (Whitlock, 2010). School-based settings have been identified as the most common and convenient to implement physical activity programs (Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2003). Exercise intervention in school-based programs has been found to decrease fat mass and improve measures of fitness (Carrel, 2005).

#### **Lifestyle Interventions Impact Physiologic Measures**

Ho et al. (2012) conducted a meta-analysis and systematic review of 13 randomized controlled trials (RCTs). The authors examined the impact of lifestyle interventions incorporating a dietary component on both weight change and cardiometabolic risks in overweight and obese adolescents ≤18 years of age. The study was conducted in hospital, community, and primary care settings (Ho et al., 2012). Treatment arms were a nutrition component to no treatment, usual care, or written education material. Fourteen were conducted in hospital settings; followed by community, school and primary care settings (n=6 each). Thirteen included children, seven included adolescents, and others included both age cohorts. Sample size ranged from 16-258

children (median 72). Intervention length was three months to one year for studies comparing intervention to usual care. Lifestyle interventions were positively correlated with significant BMI reduction compared to both controls (BMI-1.25 kg/m²; 95% [CI], - .158- -1.03) and to usual care (-1.30 kg/m² immediate change; 0.92 kg/m² post-treatment sustained to one year follow-up; 95% CI, -1.58- -1.03). Significant improvements in blood lipids, insulin and blood pressure were observed up to one year from baseline. Studies were conducted between 1974 and 2010, potentially confounding variables such as changing knowledge, parental, teacher and physician attitudes, and food environment. Intervention components varied widely. In addition, there were no psychosocial baseline or outcome measures reported. The meta-analysis supported that lifestyle interventions produced significant BMI reductions compared to no treatment controls as well as significant improvement in biometric measures associated with cardiovascular risk factors at 1 year.

#### **Programs Which Measured Both Biometric and Psychosocial Impacts**

Family-based behavioral weight control programs have been shown to produce significant improvements in adiposity measures (Bock, 2014; Sacher, 2010; Wilfey et al., 2007). Children and families who participated in family-and behaviorally based obesity interventions were more likely to experience long-term improvements in degree of overweight compared to children provided calisthenics programs and diet (Epstein, 1994). This improvement was attributed to family and behavioral skills-related factors, such as self-monitoring skills, meals eaten at home, and family and friend support for lifestyle changes (Epstein, 1994). The involvement of the family in child obesity

interventions that include behavioral components is essential to successful biometric outcomes.

Multi-disciplinary, family-centered, outpatient lifestyle interventions may improve HRQOL as well as biometrics in obese children and adolescents. A Canadian (Bock et al., 2014) one-year family-centered, multidisciplinary lifestyle intervention for obese 8-17 year olds, based on social cognitive theory, used fifteen 90-minute sessions conducted by a dietician, exercise specialist, and social worker. Objective measures of body composition and HRQOL were assessed at baseline, three and 12 months. Primary outcome measures were change in BMI. Secondary outcome measures were HRQOL and body composition. Baseline HRQOL was impaired for both physical functioning (4.5 +/-16.5 and 63.7 +/- 19.4, CI 95%) and emotional functioning (69+/-14.9 and 64 +/- 18.3) on parent and child report. At 12-month follow up, both parent-reported assessments of child physical (11.3 +/-19.2 95%, 95% CI 4.7 to 17.9) and emotional (7.7 +/=14.3, 95%) CI 95% 2.4-13) functioning HRQOL and the children's self-reported physical (5.3+/-17.1, 95% CI 0.5-11.1) and emotional (7.9 +/- 14.3, 95% CI 3.2=12.7) functioning significantly improved. This provides further evidence that obese children have impaired physical and emotional functioning and interventions that include nutritional, behavioral counseling, and exercise can significantly improve HRQOL and lean body mass. Bock et al. (2014) concluded that such interventions can be effective in improving both physical and emotional quality of life and biometric outcomes if participants sustained attendance for 12 months. They further cautioned that obese participants lower physical and emotional functioning at baseline might impair self-efficacy affecting adherence to

weight management programs. What remains unknown is the possible association between degree of impairment at baseline and program retention.

A randomized controlled trial (Sacher et al., 2010) evaluated outcomes of the Mind, Exercise, Nutrition, Do-it (MEND) Program, a family-based community intervention for obese children (n=116). The program consisted of 18 sessions over nine weeks, including behavior change counseling, nutritional education, and physical activity, followed by free family passes to a community swimming pool for a subsequent 12 weeks. The control group was "wait-listed", but received the same intervention six months later. Waist circumference and BMI both improved with a weak trend toward reduced fat mass in the intervention group. Weak Global self-esteem significantly increased at six and twelve months (p=.007) at twelve-month follow-up (P=0.04, 95% CI), suggesting that weight loss programs including components of behavioral health can improve not only degree of obesity, but also psychosocial well-being in children and adolescents.

Lloyd-Richardson et al. (2012) conducted a 24-month RCT of a comprehensive lifestyle intervention for 118 obese adolescents (68% female), age 13-16 years. Both groups received the same 16-week cognitive behavioral treatment and, in addition, were randomized to either aerobic exercise or peer-based adventure therapy modeled on Upward Bound. Body mass index, self-efficacy, and self-perception were measured at baseline and at 12 and 24 months post-randomization. Both groups showed significant reductions in BMI at all data points (p < .001), with no significant differences between those measurement times. Improved self-concept, including physical appearance, social

acceptance, and global self-concept, was reported in both groups. Only improvements in physical appearance-related self-concept were sustained at 24 months in all groups. Maintenance of weight loss was significant at all time points (p<0.001). The authors postulated that other aspects of the weight-loss program, such as exercise and peer-based adventure activity, may beneficially impact self-concept independently of weight loss. Therefore, evaluation of the efficacy of weight-loss programs should ideally include measures of self-efficacy and self-concept.

Nguyen et al. (2012) evaluated the efficacy of an adolescent weight management intervention (the Loozit program) in which 151 overweight or obese 13-16 year olds participated. Participants were recruited from a community health center and children's hospital setting. The two-phase intervention consisted of a low-intensity weight management program intended to be sustainable in community settings. The first two months of the program consisted of seven adolescent and parent weekly sessions focused on lifestyle modification. In phase two, adolescents attended "booster" sessions once every three months for 24 months and were randomized to the standard Loozit weight loss maintenance program or to Additional Therapeutic Contact (ATC) with electronic reminder messages. At twelve months significant reductions in mean BMI (-0.09, 95% CI -0.12 to -0.06), weight-to-height ratios, and blood lipids were found in the Loozit participants. Significant self-reported psychosocial improvements, including global selfworth (p<0.001), subjective social status (p<0.001), body shape satisfaction (p<0.001) and mental health inventory scores (p=0.01) were also reported. Additional therapeutic contact had no significant effect on the outcome measures at twelve months. Strengths

included a 75% retention rate, the use of an intent-to-treat analysis, and an RTC design for the ATC component. A follow up study (Nguyen, 2013) reported Loozit 24 -month outcomes similar to the twelve-month outcomes. Reductions in BMI, blood lipids, consumption of high-fat foods, and improved psychosocial outcomes were observed despite poor long-term attendance in booster group sessions. As at 12 months, ATC demonstrated no added benefit.

DeBar et al. (2012) conducted a primary-care based multi-component, lifestyle intervention specifically designed for overweight adolescent females. In this singleblinded RCT (N=208; mean age 14.1, age range 12-17 years) the control group received "usual care", including written information about evidence-based weight management for youth and adults, a parent's guide for lifestyle changes and local resources for weight management and healthy activities. Adolescents met with their primary care providers (PCPs) in a large health maintenance organization at baseline to encourage health lifestyle changes. The intervention group received 16 group sessions for teens weekly for the first three months bi-weekly and thereafter, yoga, dance video games, and PlayStations, 12 group sessions for parents, and health education and psycho-educational materials. The decrease in BMI over time was significantly greater for intervention participants compared to usual care participants (p=0.01). Intervention groups reported greater body satisfaction (p=0.03), less internalization of social norms regarding female attractiveness (p=0.02). In contrast to many community-conducted weight management trials that rely on self-referral, all teens and families whose health records indicated eligibility (BMI  $\ge 90^{th}$  percentile) for this study were contacted for recruitment. Unlike

previously cited studies, this study focused on only adolescent girls and also on teen autonomy in managing weight, rather than adopting a family-centric approach.

#### Adherence

Adherence is defined as "the extent to which a person's behavior—taking medication, following a diet, and/or executing lifestyle changes, corresponds with agreed recommendations from a healthcare provider" (Haynes, 2002). Many researchers instead measure attrition, defined as a reduction in numbers or drop-out rate, which implies non-adherence. The mode of measuring adherence, which include participation rates, completion rates, and attrition rates varies throughout the literature, making study comparison challenging.

Greater attendance and completion of obesity interventions appears to affect successful outcomes in adults (Wadden & Letizia, 1992; Fontaine & Cheskin, 1997; Honas et al., 2003). LeBlanc et al. (2011) reported in a systematic review of adult obesity treatment programs that behaviorally based treatment resulted in statistically significant 3-kg greater weight loss in intervention than control participants after 12-18 months, with more treatment sessions associated with greater loss. Trials were rated as poor quality and excluded if attrition was  $\geq$  40%. Clinically significant weight loss is defined as 5% and recommended as the outcome goal for interventions (USFDA, 2007). Participants lost an average of 4% of baseline weight. However, interventions with more sessions showed more weight loss. Patients receiving 12-26 intervention sessions generally lost 4-7 kg (6% of baseline weight) compared with little or no weight loss in control groups.

Attendance at more intervention sessions was associated with improved weight. This supports that adherence can be essential to successful weight outcomes (Raynor, 2014).

Several studies have demonstrated that better participation rates and duration of participation predict improved outcomes. Rice et al. (2008) reported that youth who adhered to a weight management program of 24 weeks over 12 months had greater increases in body mass than those who did not adhere, confirming the importance of retention and degree of participation in intervention programs. Patrick et al. (2006) found that females with drop-out or lower adherence were less likely to meet dietary and behavioral goals for females. Males with lower adherence had decreased physical activity goals.

In 2011 a National Institute of Health (NIH) work-group convened to address novel strategies to improve long-term outcomes for weight loss maintenance in obesity treatment in adults. Poor adherence to behavioral treatments was identified as a major barrier that needed to be addressed. Research in adults supports maximizing motivation (West et al., 2011) and establishing self-regulatory skill sets prior to entering weight loss programs (Kiernan et al., 2013). Although not particularly addressed in children, this suggests that motivational interviewing and developing self-regulatory skills prior to entering weight loss programs may enhance participation of interventions in children.

In an Italian study (Michilini, 2014), 146 adults were assigned one of two groups, a prescriptive diet or a novel brief group cognitive behavioral treatment (CBT) plus prescriptive diet for six months. Although there was a higher attrition rate in the CBT group than in the prescriptive diet group (39.7% vs. 24.7%), differences between groups

in dropout rates in regard to sex, age, BMI, history of weight cycling, education, work or marriage were not statistically significant (P=0.127) at 6 months. Regardless of weight loss, the most important factor predicting drop-out was high level of personal stress. This study suggests that personal stress in adults may be a deterrent to treatment adherence. The higher attrition rate in the CBT group might be due to the additional time and personal commitment required, making it more difficult to attend. Thus, child adherence to multi-disciplinary weight management programs may be negatively related to parental stress. Adult studies may serve as a guide to examining risks for attrition in children or adolescents when parents are involved.

Little literature exists about what factors might specifically influence child adherence to weight management programs, but several studies have examined adherence to treatment in other chronic diseases. A cross-sectional study was designed to evaluate depression, HRQOL, and adherence in adolescent renal transplant patients. Parents who rated their children's quality of life as problematic on several dimensions, including depressive symptoms, reported 75% non-adherence to treatment (Dobbels et al., 2010). Parents perceived their adolescent's HRQOL as worse than did parents of healthy controls. Interestingly, the adolescents' self-report of quality of life was similar to healthy controls, except for their perception of school-related physical and psychological functioning. Prasad et al. (2002) found that adherence to exercise regimens in pediatric cystic fibrosis patients was increased by improved knowledge of the disease. Exercise contributed to an enhanced sense of competency, as an increased support of the family and health care team. Quality of life factors were not assessed (Prasad et al., 2002). In a

study of adolescents with Type I Diabetes, low baseline HRQOL predicted less frequent blood glucose monitoring at 6 months and poorer glycemic control at one year (Hilliard, 2013), demonstrating that HRQOL was related to future health behaviors and outcomes. Tiggelman (2015) supported the importance of higher baseline HRQOL that predicted increased medication adherence at follow-up in a study of adolescents with asthma. The study found lower HRQOL in adolescent liver transplant patients on Tacrolimus therapy was found to be significantly related to lower HRQOL by patient and parent-proxy reports. None of these studies examined causal impact of HRQOL and health outcomes.

Factors impacting adherence to treatment in chronic illness may not accurately reflect the factors impacting adherence in childhood obesity. However, it appears that a sense of perceived self-competence and HRQOL may be important when identifying those at risk of non-adherence and sub-optimal outcomes in long term management for chronic conditions. Efforts to improve adherence to obesity treatment requires further research specific to overweight and obese adolescents.

Assuring optimal adherence is important in weight-management interventions. Higher levels of attendance have been shown to result in positive weight-related outcomes (Raynor et al., 2014). Children and families who adhered to family-and behaviorally based weight management programs were more likely to experience long-term benefits such as long-term weight-maintenance and psychosocial improvements (Epstein, 1994).

High attrition rates from pediatric weight management programs have been found to be a barrier to successful obesity treatment (Skelton & Beech, 2011). In a 2014 review

conducted by Dhaliwal (2014) attrition rates ranged from 4-83% (mean 41%). Skelton et al. (2011) conducted a review of contributors to attrition in pediatric weight management programs. They found attrition rates of 37% to 73%, with one European study reporting 91% attrition at two-year follow-up. Importantly, there was lack of a consistent definition of adherence. Adherence was defined as a percentage of intervention sessions attended, while others used an absolute number of sessions or completion of data collection at the end of the intervention period. The lack of consistent definitions poses challenges in comparing studies related to program adherence.

Ottava et al. (2012) studied a European sample of 13,041 children and adolescents aged 8-18 years to analyze the impact of overweight on HRQOL. Of the overweight children, 46.6% were in the low socio-economic status (SES) category (p $\leq$ 0.001) and were more likely to have low parental education category (p $\leq$ 0.001) than their normal weight counterparts. Age, gender, socio-economic status, and parental education levels were significantly associated with overweight child weight status and HRQOL domains.

Although demographic factors, such as age, gender, ethnicity, parental socioeconomic and educational status, and family income are well documented barriers to adherence in childhood weight management programs, psychosocial factors also impact adherence. Unlike Michilini (2014), who found no relationship between attrition and social or demographic factors in adults, DeNiet (2011) found that social determinants such as ethnicity and family structure did predict attrition rates in children in weight management programs. A sample of overweight or obese children, 8-14 years (N=248) and their families participated in a one-year, family-based, multidisciplinary group

cognitive behavioral lifestyle intervention between 1996-2007. The outcome measures were improved BMI through weight maintenance during growth, adopting a healthy lifestyle, and creating a positive self-image. Competencies (i.e. activities, social, and school) and emotional (i.e. anxiety, mood, and somatic complaints) and behavioral problems (i.e. aggressive or antisocial/delinquent behavior) were assessed by parent report. Competency scores in the study families and the overall Dutch population were comparable. Ethnic minority status and older age of the child predicted attrition between 0-3 months. Having a non-White mother, participating in fewer activities, and having higher delinquency scores predicted attrition at 3-9 months. Higher BMI, fewer social problems, lack of regular breakfast, and families without flexible rules were predictive of attrition at 9-12 months. The authors hypothesized that lack of family stability and flexible disciplinary styles might be related to attrition. Other potential reasons cited for attrition might reflect family disorganization, the need for children's help at home, lack of transportation, living in unsafe neighborhoods, or lower SES.

Higher baseline child and parent BMI (Jelalian, 2008; Braet, 2006), older child age, self-reported depressive symptoms, poor self-concept (Zeller, 2004), and ethnic minority status (Williams, 2010) have been reported as predictors of child and adolescent attrition from weight intervention programs. Distance from treatment site had been inconsistently reported as a significant predictor (Zeller, 2004). A randomized trial by Jensen et al. (2012) evaluated demographic and psychosocial predictors of attendance in a family-based behavioral weight management program (n=93 families). Overweight or obese children and adolescents aged 7-17 years (mean age 11.59 years) were referred to

an outpatient clinical setting by school nurses and physicians as well as by advertisements. Families were randomly assigned to one of two arms. Arm one was a 10week behavioral-based group intervention for children and families (Positively Fit). Arm two was a three-session individually delivered nutrition education intervention to children. The treatment arm involved parents and children attending separate meetings for all components of the treatment and adolescents were seen separately from younger children. The control group was assigned to sessions with a licensed dietician for shorter 36-minute sessions with both child and parent present. Controls were required to read the *Trim Kids* manual prior, and had three subsequent meetings over the course of 10 weeks. Distance from the participant's home to the intervention site, lower gross family income, and frequency of youth's self-reported depressive symptoms were associated with lower percent attendance (p < 0.05). Increased attendance predicted improved BMI (p=0.02). However, there was no significant association between BMI and attendance in the control arm of the study. The authors suggest that their use of percent-of-sessions-attended as a continuous variable provided increased power to detect significant associations and provided a more nuanced examination of the data. The study had several limitations. Child participants were morbidly obese (mean BMI percentile = 98.18%), and there was a relatively homogenous sample of mostly non-Hispanic White participants. Variables such as self-efficacy, appetite, or family stress were not measured possibly affecting depressive symptoms and attrition. However, it appears that depressive symptoms may be a barrier to successful weight management adherence. Children may benefit from evaluation of depressive symptoms before beginning a weight management intervention.

Other factors that could impact both attendance and depressive symptoms should be examined as well as tailored treatments to identify comorbid factors such as parenting style or family stress and emotional environment.

A 2014 RCT (Bean et al., 2014) examined adherence among 99 obese adolescents (mean age 13.8 +/- 1.8 years). Each group participated in Teaching Encouragement Exercise Nutrition Support (TEENS), which includes biweekly dietitian and behavioral support visits and supervised physical activity three times per week. The intervention group received additional brief motivational interviewing (MI) sessions at weeks one and ten. Compared to controls, the MI sample had greater three-month overall adherence (89.2% vs. 81.0%, p=0.040) and adherence to dietician (91.3% vs. 84%; p=0.046). Behavioral support visits (p= 0.041). At 6 months overall adherence was (84.4% vs. 76.2%, p=0.026) and to behavioral support visits (87.5% vs. 78.8% p=0.011) remained significant at 6 months, suggesting the benefit of brief motivational interviewing (MI). Although the sample was 73% African-American and 74% female, MI enhanced adherence and should be considered in future adolescent obesity interventions to enhance adherence.

In an integrative review of the literature, Dhaliwal (2014) analyzed studies of obesity interventions that incorporated lifestyle and behavioral components for children at birth through 18 years of age. Attrition rates, as well as predictors of and reasons for attrition were primary outcome variables. The authors divided the studies into those with either *a priori or post-hoc* plans for attrition analysis. Post-hoc studies identified child-related demographic factors (i.e. age, sex, weight status, ethnicity) and child co-morbid

factors. The a priori studies found child-predictors of decreased adherence to be older age, higher baseline BMI, ethnicity, depression and poor self-concept. Family and environmental factors identified as predictive of poor adherence included inadequate insurance, low SES, parent obesity-related medical conditions, and problematic home environment. Six studies looked at the link between adherence and psycho-social, behavioral, and lifestyle factors. Mixed results were found regarding the relationship of anxiety and depression to attrition. Braet (2006) found that anxiety predicted poorer adherence, but two other studies found neither externalizing nor internalizing (i.e. depression/anxiety) symptom levels to be predictive of adherence.

Using a clinical database, Skelton et al. (2011) studied a multidisciplinary clinic for obese children age 2-18 years with a weight-related co-morbidity (n=133, mean age 12 years, mean BMI 38 kg/m², 52% female and 50% Medicaid recipients.) Consistent with other studies, the authors identified a 32% attrition rate. They reported that children with higher BMI, commercial insurance, average school performance, and major weight-related co-morbidity were less likely to remain in the program, while those in the attrition group were more likely to be older and to have lower BMI and poorer school performance. There was no fee for participation so cost was not considered as an attrition variable. The most common parent-reported reasons for attrition were the child's lack of readiness for lifestyle change, lack of weight improvement, desire to leave the program, and the program not meeting parent or child expectations. Study findings suggest that measurements of parent and child readiness for change or parent's perception of child's readiness would be important pre-intervention data. It could be hypothesized that

individualized MI prior to study intervention may be an effective strategy to determine and optimize readiness. It also suggests the need to counsel parents about beneficial outcomes of weight-management programs such as improved self-concept, quality of life, fitness, adiposity, and body satisfaction other than weight loss alone.

Dolinsky et al. (2012) studied predictors of attrition from a clinical pediatric weight management program in a study of 983, 2-20 year-old participants from a university-based healthy lifestyle program. Attrition was defined as lack of any follow-up within one year of entry and non-completion as not having attended the six required visits within one year after entry. Race and ethnicity predicted both early attrition and noncompletion. Non-white, non-Hispanic children were more likely to have early attrition than white non-Hispanic children (p=.005; OR = 1.46) and were more likely to be noncompleters than white non-Hispanic (OR=1.56) and Hispanic children (OR=2.56). Onethird of participants had early attrition, but a striking 83% were non-completers. Attrition had no relationship to degree of overweight or obesity. Additionally, self-pay or children without insurance were more likely to be early drop-outs (p=.04), as were children with public insurance (p=.05). This is in contrast to Skelton's (2011) finding in that low BMI was a significant predictor of attrition. Limitations of the study were lack of measurement of other known predictors of attrition, including psychosocial status, quality of life, parental and child motivation, or financial barriers and costs unrelated to program costs (e.g. transportation, time off work) and co-payments. The authors concluded that more information is needed about reasons for these racial and ethnic attrition rates to help modify interventions to improve adherence.

Theim et al. (2013) evaluated the relationship between attendance and adherence to behavioral techniques parents could implement for their overweight children (n=101, ages seven-12, mean 9.9, 71% female). One overweight parent with an overweight child attended a 20-week family-based behavioral weight loss program. Parents were randomized to either a behaviorally or socially focused 16-week program of weight maintenance. Eighty-five percent attended the 20-week family-based behavioral program and 75% attended the 16-week weight maintenance sessions. Higher parental attendance predicted better child weight outcomes at program completion, but not at two-year follow-up. Self-reported adherence to practicing self-regulatory and goal-setting skills (e.g. self-monitoring, self-weighing, re-adjusting to positive course) predicted two-year weight loss outcomes in the behaviorally focused group (p<001). The authors hypothesized that attendance served as proxy to adherence for maintaining healthy weight behaviors. These behaviors could potentially reflect enhanced self-efficacy as well as readiness to engage in a weight management program.

Novel technologies such as short message system messaging (i.e. "texting") have gained popularity to enhance treatment adherence and decrease attrition rates. Simulation and computer modeling of variations has been proposed as a cost-effective alternative to expensive RCTs in real-time. In a systematic review of studies using such approaches, Turner et al. (2015) used wireless and mobile technologies for 12-15 year olds enrolled in adolescent obesity programs. They found longer maintenance phase decreased attrition and increased adherence to self-monitoring and use of behavioral techniques such as improved nutrition and self-monitoring of nutrition. However, it did not improve BMI.

Computer modeling could allow researchers to manipulate variables such as type of intervention, duration, frequency, intensity, and modes of delivery to see quickly which formulations are the most promising in maintaining long-term adherence and maintenance of weight improvements (Wilfrey et al., 2010). Further research of technology needs to explore this identified deficit and other modalities to enhance weight loss.

Many studies have focused on child or family attributes or characteristics that were predictive of negative outcomes, including attrition or poor adherence to weight loss programs and behavioral changes. Catalano et al. (2004) sought to identify positive individual characteristics, such as self-determination, bonding, pro-social involvement, optimism, self-efficacy, and positive identity as predictors of healthy behaviors, adherence and/or positive health outcomes. Themes identified as common to producing effective behavioral change included strengthening social, emotional, behavioral, cognitive and moral competencies; building self-efficacy; and family and community involvement. Effective programs were nine months or longer. Aligned with the Life Course Health Developmental framework (Halfon & Hochstein, 2002), Hoyt et al. (2012) designed an innovative study to examine the association between perceived health, depressive symptoms, and positive well-being in adolescents using data from three waves of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health) from 1994 to 2001 (Harris et al., 2009). The authors reported that positive well-being during adolescence predicted self- reports of excellent general health in young adulthood (p<.01) and fewer risky behaviors, such as consumption of fast food and low levels of exercise,

both obesity risk factors. Positive health-related quality of life characteristics such as happiness, enjoyment of life, and hopefulness were found to be more strongly associated with positive health outcomes than self-esteem. This suggests that HRQOL measures might be useful for identifying characteristics of adolescents more likely to adopt and maintain healthy behaviors and adherence to weight management programs.

## **Readiness for Change**

Prochaska (2002) described a theoretical model of stages of change and readiness to improve health-related behaviors. These stages include: Pre-contemplators;

Contemplators, and Ready for Action (Prochaska, 2002). Motivational interviewing is used to enhance progression through stages of change, increase the individual's intrinsic motivation, and problem-solve barriers during the change process (Walpole et al, 2011). To increase a child's readiness for healthy weight related changes, it may be important for parents or primary caregivers to be ready to change their personal behaviors and habits.

Evidence supports that parents play a critical role in establishing the child's food environment (Nadar, 1993; Golan, 1998) and food choices (Klesges et al, 1991). Rhee et al. (2005), studied obese children (BMI > 95%; mean age 7.5 years). Mothers in the action stage and ready to commit to recommended lifestyle changes were more likely to perceive their child's weight as a health problem (OR 9.75). It could be hypothesized that this might reflect perceived parent HRQOL.

Jakubowski et al. (2012) examined the predictive value of readiness for change on BMI outcomes in a study of 40 adolescents with polycystic ovary syndrome and their

parents, participating in a weight management program. Participants completed questionnaires assessing stage of change (SOC) in four weight control domains: increasing dietary portion control, increasing fruit and vegetable consumption, decreasing dietary fat, and increasing physical activity at baseline and at program completion. Positive parent change in total SOC from baseline to program completion, suggesting greater adherence to program recommendations, was predictive of adolescent's change in BMI over time (p=0.043). Adolescent change in SOC baseline to program completion was not predictive of adolescent change in BMI over that time period. This study adds to the evidence that parents are still very important in achieving positive weight change in their adolescent children and must be motivated to make the necessary dietary lifestyle changes at home. Parental commitment to change is associated with improved adolescent BMI even when the adolescent fails to demonstrate improved readiness for change. Only 70% of the subjects in this study of polycystic ovary syndrome were overweight, so we might anticipate greater adolescent readiness for change in other populations with obesity as their primary and universal concern.

## **Summary of Review of Literature**

Childhood obesity is a worldwide epidemic that may persist and worsen through adolescence and into adulthood. Obesity at any age poses major detrimental risks to physical and psychological health and HRQOL. Adolescence is a critical developmental period in which these psychosocial risks may be accentuated. Thus, it is essential that interventions are evaluated not only regarding weight-related biometric outcomes (BMI, percent body fat), but also psychosocial and functional outcomes. The literature supports

an important relationship between obesity and overweight. Several dimensions of psychosocial and functional HRQOL deficits result from obesity and in many cases also become predictors of increasing obesity. Evidence-based interventions are necessary to reduce childhood obesity. Research has helped to define the characteristics of obesity interventions most likely to result in successful outcomes: cost-free, accessible, multidisciplinary, family- and behaviorally based interventions, inclusion of assessments of readiness for change and motivational interviewing and counseling tailored to the individual, and programs of a duration of one to two years. Well-designed interventions appear to be less effective if children and/or families have low participation or adherence rates. Retention rates appear to vary widely and overall attrition is high. Adherence has been shown to be positively associated with improved outcomes in weight management programs. It is essential to further investigate individual and group factors that may positively and negatively predict optimal adherence to weight management interventions. Health-related quality of life measures broadly assess physical, social, emotional and school functioning. Assessment of HRQOL may help to identify those factors which affect adherence and by extension lead to improved obesity-related outcomes.

# CORRELATES OF ADHERENCE TO AN ADOLESCENT WEIGHT MANAGEMENT PROGRAM: A SECONDARY DATA ANALYSIS

#### Abstract

Purpose Adherence in pediatric obesity programs has been sub-optimal and may be related to psychosocial factors such as health-related quality of life (HRQOL). Obese children with poor levels of HRQOL may not be appropriate candidates for intensive outpatient weight management. The aim of this study was to determine if HRQOL affected adherence to an adolescent weight management program.

Methods This study was a non-experimental, retrospective secondary analysis of data from the REWARD Teens program for overweight and obese adolescents. 37 subjects were included. Subject adherence was the primary outcome variable.

Results There was no significant relationship between HRQOL and program adherence. A significant positive predictive effect for improved adherence was found only when change in BMI (p=.023), change of parent-proxy total HRQOL (p=.014), and change in child total HRQOL (p=.007) were present in the regression model.

Conclusion Collectively, weight loss and changes in both improved and worsening parent-proxy, child HRQOL, and total HRQOL were significantly related to adherence. A potentially novel interplay between factors contributing to program adherence was found. Future studies should focus on elucidating psychosocial interactions which may function as barriers or facilitators to adherence.

#### Introduction

Childhood obesity rates have tripled over the past 20 years in the United States and in the past 30 years globally [1, 2]. Of American children, 32% are overweight and 16.9% are obese [3,4]. The prevalence rises with age from 12.1% among 2-5 year-olds to 18.4% among 12-19 year-olds [4]. Obese children and adolescents are more likely than non-obese peers to become obese adults [5,6]. Obesity in children and adults has been strongly associated with increased mortality and related co-morbidities, including hyperlipidemia, hypertension, heart disease, diabetes and joint problems, lower-life-expectancy, disability [2,7-9], and with depression, anxiety, low self-esteem or poor self-image [10-12]. Further this heavy burden of chronic disease strains medical and economic resources, as medical costs for obese individuals are approximately 30% greater than for those with normal weight [13].

Behaviorally-based pediatric obesity interventions that aim to prevent or mitigate obesity-related co-morbidities have been largely unsuccessful. Forty-eighty percent of children regain lost weight within one year following weight management programs [8]. Earlier weight loss interventions have primarily focused on improving biometric outcomes such as body mass index (BMI) and percent body fat through improving nutritional and exercise behaviors [14, 20-21] Prevention of obesity-associated morbidity and mortality requires weight loss and weight maintenance over time. Thus, adherence to long-term healthy lifestyle changes is essential. High attrition rates in adolescent interventions of up to 83% [15, 16] have been identified as a potential barrier to successful weight management. Greater program attendance and completion rates are known to correlate with positive outcomes and greater degrees of weight loss [16, 17-21]. Understanding how to improve long-term participation rates, an indirect marker for adherence, in weight management programs is essential. There is relatively little research clarifying the influence of health-related quality of life (HRQOL) on adherence and attrition in child weight-management interventions. Intra-personal factors such as self-esteem [22], self-efficacy [23], and well-being [24] have been suggested to influence participation in weight management programs and long-term adherence to healthy behaviors. Health-related quality of life, reflected broadly in such variables has not been well studied as a predictor of adherence.

Health-related quality of life quantifies physical, social, emotional, and school aspects of the child well-being and has been used to delineate how obesity affects the physical and psychosocial function in overweight and obese children. Children who are overweight or obese reportedly have lower levels of HRQOL than their lean counterparts [22.25-27]. Jansen (2013) and Ul-Haaq (2012) found the degree of adiposity was inversely correlated with HRQOL, meaning the more obese the child, the lower the child's HRQOL [28, 29]. Cameron (2013) found a bidirectional relationship between HRQOL and obesity in adults [30]. They found that obese children had lower levels of HRQOL, but also determined that low levels of HRQOL predicted subsequent weight gain and worsening obesity over time. Specifically, lower levels of HRQOL social-emotional functioning were associated with an unhealthy BMI trajectory over time [30, 31]. However, there have been few studies looking at HRQOL as a predictor of adherence to obesity interventions in adolescents.

We conducted a secondary data analysis from an ongoing weight management program for overweight and obese adolescents. The aim was to determine whether HRQOL was related to improved adherence and weight loss. A secondary aim was to determine if child HRQOL, as perceived by the parent, influenced child adherence and BMI. Our *a priori* hypothesis was that adolescents with low HRQOL are less likely to adhere to a weight management program while those with greater HRQOL have greater levels of adherence and improved outcomes.

#### Methods

Sample and Recruitment for Primary Study

Aggregate data between 2011-2015 was utilized from an ongoing adolescent weight management program, REWARD Teens. The REWARD Teens program is a 12-week, multi-disciplinary weight-management program for overweight and obese adolescents. The program provides a clinic-based, multi-disciplinary, pediatric weight management intervention to improve adolescent weight and weight related outcomes. The REWARD Teens program includes essential elements of treatment programs including nutrition, exercise, and cognitive behavioral therapy using theoretical underpinnings stemming from social cognitive theory [32]. Weekly sessions for parents and adolescents are led by study team members.

Adolescents participated in baseline evaluation that included body composition measures, aerobic testing,

and nutrition and physical activity questionnaires. Additionally, behavioral and psychosocial characteristics of the adolescent were assessed with several questionnaires, including parent-proxy and adolescent HRQOL inventories.

Participants were recruited primarily through fliers placed in pediatric primary care settings and by pediatric health provider recommendation during child health visits. Inclusion criteria was children 12-18 years of age who were clinically overweight (≥85<sup>th</sup> - <95<sup>th</sup> BMI percentile for age and gender; [33] or obese BMI ≥ 95% percentile for age and gender; [33]) with a parent or guardian willing to attend all study visits. Adolescents with significant cardiovascular disease, liver disease, chronic use of medications including diuretics, steroids and adrenergic-stimulating agents, as well as those with diagnosed emotional or psychological problems were excluded.

Sample for Secondary Data Analysis

The sample for secondary analysis included de-identified, aggregate data from 38 subjects. Independent variables were age, race, gender, pre and post intervention BMI, and change in BMI ( $\Delta$ BMI). Outcome variables were child and parent-proxy health related quality of life (PedsQL), change in HRQOL ( $\Delta$ PedsQL) for child and parent-proxy, and percent attendance of study visits, a measure used to indicate adherence. The Institutional Review Board approved both the primary and secondary study.

#### Measures

The Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL; [34]): The PedsQL is a 23-item measure of HRQOL using a five-point Likert scale. The PedsQL yields a global score and subscales to measure the following HRQOL dimensions: physical health, emotional functioning, social functioning, and school functioning [34]. It is self-administered. Both child (ages 2-18) and parent-proxy measures are available. Reliability for the total scale was  $\alpha$ = 0.88 child self-report and  $\alpha$ = 0.90 parent proxy-report. Validity was determined by using the known-groups method, correlations with indicators of morbidity and illness burden, and factor analysis [34]. The PedsQL measure distinguishes between healthy children and children with acute or chronic health conditions.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Approximately 38 adolescents and 37 parents were eligible for overall inclusion. Thirteen adolescents had pre and post intervention data. Participant demographics were analyzed using descriptive statistics. An independent t-test was used to compare age, pre-BMI (BMI 1) and post-BMI (BMI 2), child and parent-proxy pre and post total PedsQL mean scores for subjects with pre and post-intervention data (n=13) and for subjects without pre and post-intervention data (n=25) and to evaluate between group differences. Comparisons in gender and race between groups were evaluated using a Chi-square test. A paired t-test was used to compute parental-proxy and adolescent response to the PedsQL pre and post total scales and subscales. Change in PedsQL scores (ΔPedsQL) values were computed by subtracting PedsQL pre-intervention scores from PedsQL post-intervention scores. Delta BMI (ΔBMI) was calculated by subtracting BMI 1 from BMI 2. Adherence was defined as percent attendance, calculated by the number of sessions attended divided by total number of sessions. A linear regression model was computed to determine predictors of adherence and whether ΔPedsQL predicted the degree of adherence. Alpha was set a priori at .05 using two sided t-test. Analysis was computed using SPSS version 22 [35].

#### Results

Table 1 provides descriptive statistics comparing baseline characteristics between adolescents with pre-program only data and pre- and post-program data. Participants with post-intervention data had fewer female subjects (46.2%), younger subjects (p=.02), higher percent attendance (mean=.818 vs. .526, SD +/- .15), and were 100% White. Pre- PedsQL child and parent-proxy physical functioning sub-scores (mean difference= 9.66, SD=+/-16.17; p=.002) and pre-PedsQL total scores (mean difference= 5.98, SD=+/- 13.32; p=.016) were significantly different in the larger sample without pre and post data (n=32). Child mean pre-physical and pre-total mean PedsQL scores were both higher than parent scores in corresponding domains. No other statistically significant differences were found between groups with and without post-intervention data. Further analysis was restricted to data for subjects with pre and post intervention data (n=13). We independently evaluated the relationship between adherence and each of the following: BMI 1, BMI 2, ΔBMI, ΔPedsQL child or parent-proxy total scores or subscale PedsQL scores. We found no significant independent predictive effect with any single variable. When child ΔPedsQL total scores,

parent-proxy ΔPedsQL total scores, and ΔBMI were entered into the model (Table 6), all of these factors became significant predictors of adherence. Weight loss (negative ΔBMI), decreased child total PedsQL, and improved parent-proxy total PedsQL were predictive of greater adherence from pre to post intervention. Neither pre nor post-intervention child PedsQL total or subscale scores predicted adherence. Parent-proxy PedsQL total or subscale scores were not predictive of adherence. There was no statistically significant relationship between adherence and any independent variables (e.g. gender, age, BMI).

#### Discussion

Baseline child and parent-perceived HRQOL was not an independent predictor of adherence. We observed a statistically significant relationship between the effect of improved parent-perceived HRQOL and adherence in a weight loss management program for adolescents. Interestingly, this was only in those children with decreased HRQOL who had lost weight and had a parent who reported improvement in the child's HRQOL. Weight change, positive or negative, was not an independent predictor of improved adherence. Body mass index could remain unchanged or relatively unchanged even as body fat percentage decreased and muscle or lean body mass increased [36, 37]. Change in BMI may under-report changes in adiposity. Body mass index has inconsistently been identified as a predictor of adherence in weight management programs for children. Skelton & Beech (2011) found subjects with higher BMI had better participation and retention rates in obesity intervention programs, while Dolinsky (2012) found no relationship between adherence and degree of obesity [15, 38]. Alternatively, the twelve weeks of the intervention may not have provided sufficient time for nutritional and exercise behavioral interventions to demonstrate significant BMI changes.

We hypothesized that higher adolescent and parent HRQOL at baseline would predict better adherence to a weight management intervention. Baseline child or parent HRQOL alone did not predict adherence. However, decreased child HRQOL over the 12-week intervention predicted better adherence but only in those with weight loss and whose parents perceived increased child HRQOL did have a significant relationship with adherence. Health-related quality of life alone may not be the best individual-level measure of psychosocial factors which predict adherence in obesity interventions. Body image, body perception and self-esteem all have been identified as moderators or mediators in the relationship between

HRQOL and overweight/obesity [22, 39, 40]. These factors may have influenced the relationship between the variables in our study. It is plausible that adolescents who have poor body image had lower HRQOL scores than those who did not, which might have been elucidated in our analysis. Our findings suggest such a possible interactional effect on HRQOL. Participants with weight loss may have had greater awareness of their actual degree of overweight and less satisfaction with body image, thus increasing motivation for participation despite lower HRQOL.

Our findings suggest that parental recognition of improved child HRQOL in association with weight loss might have facilitated parental participation and adherence. Adherence has been associated with parent and child readiness for change [41,42]. It could be hypothesized that parents who were ready to facilitate healthy changes, and who perceived positive benefits for their children, were more motivated to encourage and facilitate child adherence to weight management program. Wrotniak (2005) reported that both parent and child adherence to weight loss behavioral recommendations were predictive of improved long-term weight changes (i.e. 2 years) [43]. Further, it could be hypothesized that parents with greater adherence possibly institute greater healthy changes in the home environment. Jakubowski (2012) found that parent, but not adolescent, readiness to change for adolescents with poly-cystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) in an obesity intervention was predictive of improved adolescent BMI [44]. This suggests that parental readiness for change is an important target for weight management. Motivational interviewing may prove to optimize adherence by increasing parental readiness for change. The additive effect we found of improved HRQOL as perceived by the parent supports the importance of parental involvement in child weight management programs, particularly in younger adolescents.

The importance of family involvement in child obesity interventions has previously been found to positively impact adherence, as well as adiposity and psychosocial outcomes [45, 46]. This may be especially important for interventions involving young adolescents, whereby parents still exercise significant influence and control. Children with post-intervention data tended to be younger. Because younger adolescents are still more reliant on their parents, studies involving younger adolescents should consider that parental factors are equally if not more important than they might be in interventions with older adolescents.

Improvement in perceived parent HRQOL of their child may have reflected in improved child's self-image and enhanced self-esteem that was not fully captured by measures of HRQOL. Research has demonstrated that evidence-based interventions can positively impact not only obesity-related biometrics. metabolic parameters, weight outcomes, but also psychosocial and quality of life measures, which may improve even in the absence of improved biometric markers [15, 47]. The addition of behavioral counseling may have contributed additional perceived benefits such as a sense of well-being and selfefficacy that were not fully quantified in this study. Sacher (2010) reported significant improvements in self-esteem, waist circumference, and BMI for children participating in a multi-disciplinary childhood obesity intervention [48]. The researchers suggested improved self-esteem may act as a moderator between program participation and improved weight by enhancing motivation and self-efficacy to continue healthy life-style changes. Catalano (2004) found that children's level of self-efficacy was predictive of health behaviors and positive health outcomes and could directly affect a child's HRQOL [23]. Self-efficacy was not specifically evaluated. However, intervention counseling using SCT directly targets and may have positively influenced self-efficacy. Our findings may have captured elements reflective of self-efficacy that optimized adherence and weight loss. It would be important for future studies to measure self-efficacy as well as HRQOL to better understand the relationship between such variables and their affect on adherence and weight loss.

Contrary to our hypothesis that low HRQOL would predict poor adherence, we found worsening HRQOL predicted increased adherence, but only in the presence of weight loss and improved parent-perceived HRQOL. Depression or other psychological impairments not directly measured may have contributed to reported decline in HRQOL. Co-existing stigma and depression have been correlated with adolescent overweight and obesity [49]. Fulkerson et al. (2004) found that significantly depressed adolescents were more likely to engage in disordered eating behaviors and less able to adhere to improved diet and exercise recommendations [50]. Depression, therefore may contribute to non-adherence and attrition, even in the absence of low HRQOL scores.

Future studies examining predictors of adherence in weight management should include measures of self-efficacy, body image, and parent and child readiness for change, as well as HRQOL. While such

measures are indirectly reflected in HRQOL, combined use of more specific measures might better explain the relationship between psychosocial factors and adherence. By addressing identified factors related to attrition prior to enrollment in obesity interventions, premature attrition might be prevented, thus improving adherence and health-related outcomes.

### Limitations

Limitations of this study are the small sample size. We were not able to include all intervention participants because of incomplete post-intervention data. There was incomplete post intervention data for >50% of the original sample size, limiting the sample size of the secondary data analysis, and possibly creating a self-selection bias. It is possible that the small sample size used in analysis resulted in "over-fitting" of the regression model. In addition, the weight management program is located in small rural state and there may be ethnic, geographic, or lifestyle factors influencing BMI and adherence that differ from other areas in or outside the United States. Cognitive and developmental characteristics of midadolescence, relative to independence, family and peer relationships, and parental influence may change rapidly in a single year. The behavior of the study group might, therefore differ from that of the older group, biasing our results.

Twelve weeks employed in this intervention might have been an inadequate amount of time to improve healthy behaviors sufficiently to be reflected in improved BMI. Ideal duration of adherence to intervention programs has not been firmly established, but is estimated to be 1-2 years. Longer duration of treatments might reveal a more clear relationship between HRQOL, weight loss and adherence. Finally, BMI may not be the best measure of weight or adiposity outcomes over such a short period of time and it may not take into account changes in lean body mass [51].

#### Conclusion

We could find few studies that explored the role of adolescent HRQOL as a predictor of obesity intervention adherence. This study advances the literature on adolescent adherence by analyzing perceived parent and adolescent-reported HRQOL as possible predictors of adherence in adolescent obesity pre- and post-interventions. Our findings lend early support to the lack of independent affect of HRQOL on adherence in pediatric weight management programs. Collectively weight loss, decreased child HRQOL,

but improved parent-proxy HRQOL was predictive of increased program attendance rates. These findings provide an important new insight into the interplay between both psychosocial and physiologic variables and program adherence.

Future studies would benefit from a larger, more diverse study group, a longer intervention period and follow-up and include additional measures of child self-efficacy, psychological health, body image, and parent and child readiness to change. It is essential to improve our understanding of factors associated with adherence. Identifying children who are more likely to be successful in weight management programs would allow for better utilization of health resources and optimize weight related outcomes.

## **Declaration of Interest**

None

 Table 1 Characteristics between adolescents at baseline and at completion of program.

	Baseline N=25	Completion N=13	p-value	
Age (Years)	$14.84 \pm 0.42$	$13.46 \pm 0.39$	0.040*	
<b>BMI</b> (wt. (kg)/ht. (m) <sup>2</sup> )	$33.92 \pm 1.39$	$31.28 \pm 1.28$	0.227	
Attendance (%)	53 ± 6	82 ± 4	0.002*	
Child HRQOL Total Score	72.73 ± 2.83 (n=23)	79.11 ± 3.56	0.177	
Parent HRQOL Total Score	66.93 ± 3.32 (n=21)	73.50 ± 4.46	0.239	

<sup>\*</sup> significant at p < 0.05

**Table 2** Relationship between body mass index, change in child HRQOL and parent-proxy total HRQOL and adherence (n=13).

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1 (Constant)	.820	.039		20.822	.000
post minus pre C total	009	.005	526	-1.671	.126
post minus pre P total	.005	.004	.458	1.455	.176
2 (Constant)	.757	.038		19.753	.000
post minus pre C total	022	.006	-1.293	-3.463	.007*
post minus pre P total	.011	.003	.888	3.043	.014*
post minus pre BMI	086	.031	887	-2.728	.023*

Dependent variable: attendance
\*p < 0.05 level
C=child; P=parent
\* significant at p < 0.05

## References

- 1.Fryar, C.D., Carroll, M.D., & Ogden, C.L. (2010). Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Esteem Obesity among Adults: United States, Trends 196—1962 through 2009-2010. Centers for Disease control and Prevention: Atlanta, GA. Retrieved from: www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity adult 09 10/obesity adult 09 10.htm
- 2.Ng, M., Fleming, T., Robinson, M., Thomson, B., Graetz, N...., & Gakidou, E. (2014). Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: A systematic analysis for Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*, 384 (9945),766-81.
- 3.Roberts, K.C., Shields, M., De Groh, M., Aziz, A., & Gilbert, J.A. (2012). Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents: Results from the 2009 to 2011 Canadian Health Measures Survey. *Health Rep* 2011, (23), 37-41.
- 4.Ogden, C.L., Carroll, M.D., Kit, B.K., & Flegal, K.M. (2012). Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among U.S. children and adolescents, 1999-2010. *JAMA*, 307, 483-490.
- 5.Hernandez, R.G., Marcell, A.V., Garcia, J., Amankwah, E.K., Cheng, T.L., (2015). Predictors of favorable growth patterns during the obesity epidemic among U.S. school children. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 54(5), 458-468.
- 6. Whitaker, R.C., Wright, J.A., Pepe M.S., Seidel, K.D., & Dietz, W.H. (1997), Predicting obesity in young adulthood from childhood and parental obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 337, 869–73.
- 7.Ludwig, D. (2007). Childhood obesity: The shape of things to come. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 357, 2325-27
- Reilly, J.J., Kelnar, C.J., Alexander, D.W., Hacking, B., & Methven, E. (2003). Health consequences of obesity: Systematic review. *Arch Dis Child*, 88, 748–752.
- 9.Reilly, J.J. & Kelly, J. (2010) Long-term impact of overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence on morbidity and premature mortality in adulthood: a systematic review. *International Journal of Obesity*, 35 (7), 891-98.
- 10.Hillman, J.B., Dorn, L.D., & Huang, B. (2010). Association of anxiety and depressive symptoms and adiposity among adolescent females, using dual energy x-ray absorptiometry. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 49(7), 671-677.
- 11. Kubzansky, L.D., Gilthorpe, M.S., & Goodman, E. (2012). A prospective study of psychological distress and weight status in adolescent/young adults. *Ann Behav Med*, 43, 219-228.

- 12.Lawler, M. & Nixon, E. (2011). Body dissatisfaction among adolescent boys & girls: The effects of body mass, peer appearance culture and internalization of appearance ideals. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(1), 59-71.
- 13. Withrow, D. & Alter, D.A. (2011). The economic burden of obesity worldwide: A systematic review of the direct costs of obesity. *Obesity Review*, 12, 1131-1141.
- 14. Ho, M., Garnett, S.P., Bauer, L., Burrows, T., Stewart, T., Neve, M., & Collins, C. (2012). Effectiveness of lifestyle interventions in child obesity: Systematic review with meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 130(6), 1647-1671.
- 15. Skelton, J.A. & Beech, B.M. (2011). Attrition in paediatric weight management: A review of the literature and new directions. *Obesity Rev*, 12, e273-e281.
- 16.Dhaliwal, J., Nosworthy, N.M., Holt, N.L., Zwaigenbaum, L., Rasquinha, A., & Ball G.D. (2014). Attrition and management of pediatric obesity: An integrative review. *Childhood Obesity*, 10(6), 461-73.
- 17. Wadden, T.A. & Letizia, K.A. (1992). Predictors of attrition and weight loss in patients treated by moderate and severe caloric restriction. In: Wadden T, VanItallie T (eds), Treatment of the Seriously Obese Patient. Guilford: New York, pp. 383–410.
- 18. Honas, J.J., Early, J.L., Frederickson, D.D., & O'Brien, M.S. (2003). Predictors of attrition in a large clinic-based weight-loss program. *Obesity* Research, 11(7), 888-894.
- 19.Raynor, H.A., Saporito, J., & Khatri, P. (2014) *Changes for life: A primary care-based multidisciplinary program for obesity in children and families* in obesity. In V. Brennan, S.K. Rumanyika, & E. Zambran. (Eds). *Interventions in Underserved Communities: Evidence and Direction* (pp. 275-281). Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Press.
- 20.Rice, J., Thombs, D., Leach, R., & Rehm, R. (2008). Successes and barriers for a youth weight management program. *Clin Pediatr*, 47, 143-147.
- 21.Patrick, K., Calfas, K.J., Norman, G.J., Zabinski, M.F., Sallis, J.F., Rupp. J., Covin, J., & Cella, J. (2006). Randomized controlled trial of a primary care and home-based intervention for physical activity and nutrition behaviors: PACE+ for adolescents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*, 160(2), 128-36.
- 22.Kolodziejczyk, J.M., Gutzmer, K., Wright, S.M., Arredondo, E.M., Hill, L.... Norman, G.J. (2015). Influence of specific individual and environmental variables on the relationship between body mass index and health-related quality of life in overweight and obese adolescents. *Quality Life Res*, 24, 251-261.

- 23. Catalano, R.F., Berglund, M.L., Ryan, J.A.M., Lonczak, H.S., & Hawkins, J.D. (2004). Positive youth development in the United States: Research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. *Ann Am Acad Pol Soc Sci*, 591, 98–124.
- 24.Hoyt, L.T., Chase-Lansdale, P.L., McDade, T.W., Adam, E.K. (2012). Positive youth, healthy adults: Does positive well-being in adolescence predict better perceived health and fewer risky health behaviors in young adulthood? *Journal Adolescent Health*, 50(1), 66-73.
- 25. Schwimmer, J.B., Tasha, M.F., & Varni, J.W. (2003). Health-related quality of life of severely obese children and adolescents. *JAMA*, 289(14), 1813-1819.
- 26.Wake, M., Salmon, L., Water, E., Wright, M, & Hesketh, K. (2002). Parent–reported health status of overweight and obese Australian primary school children: A cross-sectional population survey. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 26, 717-24.
- 27. Swallen, K., Reither, E., Haas, S., & Meier, A. (2005). Overweight, obesity, and health-related quality of life among adolescents: A national longitudinal study of adolescent health. *Pediatrics*, 115(2), 340-347.
- 28. Jansen, P.W., Mensah, F.K., Clifford, S., Nicholson, J.M., & Wake, M. (2013). Bidirectional associations between overweight and health-related quality of life from 4-11 years: Longitudinal study of Australian children. *International Journal of Obesity*, 37, 1307-1313.
- 29.Ul-Haq, Z., Mackay, D.F., Fenwick, E., & Pell, J.P. (2012). Impact of comorbidity on the association between body mass index and health-related quality of life: A Scotland-wide cross-sectional study of 5608 participants. *BMC Public Health*, 12, 143.
- 30. Cameron, A.J., Magliano, D.J., Dunstan, D.W., Zimmet, P.Z., Hesketh, K., Peeters, A., & Shaw, J.E. (2012). A bi-directional relationship between obesity and health-related quality of life: Evidence from the longitudinal AusDiab study. *International Journal of Obesity*, 36, 295-303.
- 31. Chang, Y., & Gable, S. (2013). Predicting weight status stability and change from fifth grade to eighth grade: The significant role of adolescents' social-emotional well-being. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 52, 448-455.
- 32.Bandura, A. (1989). Human Agency in Social Cognitive Theory. *American Psychological Association*, 44(9), 1175-1184.
- 33.Centers for Disease Control (2015). *About Child & Teen BMI*. Retrieved from: http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/childrens\_bmi/about\_childrens\_bmi.html
- 34. Varni J.W., Burwinkle T.M., Seid, M, Skarr, D. (2003). The PedsQL4.0 as a pediatric population health measure: Feasibility, reliability and validity. *Ambulatory Pediatr*, 3:3329-41.

- 35.IBM Corp. Released 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- 36.Weber, D.R., Moore, R.H., Leonard, M.B., & Zemel, B.S. (2013). Fat and lean BMI reference curves in children and adolescents and their utility in identifying excess adiposity compared with BMI and percentage body fat. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 98, 49-56.
- 37.Brambilla, P., Bedogni, G., Heo, M., & Pietrobelli, A. (2013) Waist circumference-to-height ratio predicts adiposity better than body mass index in children and adolescents. *International Journal of Obesity*, 37, 943-946.
- 38.Dolinsky, D.H., Armstrong, S.C., & Ostbye, T. (2012). Predictors of attrition from a clinical pediatric obesity treatment program. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 51(12), 1168-1174.
- 39. Gouveia, M.J., Frontini, R., Canavarro, M.C., & Moreira, H. (2014). Quality of life and psychological functioning in pediatric obesity: The role of body image dissatisfaction between girls and boys of different ages. *Quality Life Research*, 23, 2629-2638.
- 40.Hayward, J., Millar, L., Petersen, S., Swinburn, B., & Lewis, A.J. (2014). When ignorance is bliss: Weight perception, body mass index and quality of life in adolescents. *International Journal of Obesity*, 938, 1328-1334.
- 41.Bean, M.K., Powell, P., Quinoy, A., Ingersoll, K., Wickham, E.P., & Mazzeo, S.E. (2014) Motivational interviewing targeting diet and physical activity improves adherence to paediatric obesity treatment: Results from the MI values randomized controlled trial. *Pediatric Obesity*, 10, 118-125.
- 42.Hettema, J., Steele, J., & Miller, W.R. (2005) Motivational interviewing. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 1, 91-111.
- 43. Wrotniak, B.H., Epstein, L.H., Paluch, R.A., & Roemmich, J.N. (2005). The relationship between parent and child self-reported adherence and weight loss. *Obesity Research*. 13(6). 1089-1096.
- 44.Jakubowski, K.P., Black, J.J., El Nokali, N.E., Belendluk, J.A., Hannon, T.S., Arsianian, S.A., & Rofey, D.L. (2012). Parents' readiness to change affects BMI reduction outcomes in adolescents with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Obesity*, Volume 2012, Article ID 298067 1-12. Doi:10.1155/2012/298067
- 45. Epstein, L.H., Valoski, A., Wing, R.R., McCurley, J. (1994) Ten-year outcomes of behavioral family-based treatment for childhood obesity. *Health Psychology* 13(5), 373-383.

- 46.Bock, D., Robinson, T., Seabrook, J., & Clarson, C. (2014). The Health Initiative Program for Kids (HIP Kids): Effects of a 1-year multidisciplinary lifestyle intervention on adiposity and quality of life in obese children and adolescents—a longitudinal pilot intervention study. *BMC Pediatrics*, 14, 296.
- 47.Lloyd-Richardson, E.E., Jelalian, E., Sato, A.F., Hart, C.N., Mehlenbeck, R., & Wing, R.R. (2012). Two-year follow-up of an adolescent behavioral weight control intervention. *Pediatrics*, 130(2), e281-e288.
- 48.Sacher, P.M., Kolotourou, M., Chadwick, P.M., Cole, T.J. Lawson, M.S., Lucus, A., & Singhal, A. (2010). Randomized controlled trial of the MEND program: A family-based community intervention for childhood obesity. *Obesity*, 18(1), S62-S68.
- 49. Neumark-Sztainer, D., Falkner, N., Story, M., Perry, C., Hannan, P.J., & Mulert, S. (2002). Weight-teasing among adolescents: Correlations with weight status and disordered eating behaviors. *International Journal Obesity Related Metabolic Disorders*, 26(1), 123-31.
- 50.Fulkerson, J.A., Sherwood, N.E., Perry, C.L., Neumark-Sztainer, D., & Story, M. (2004). Depressive symptoms and adolescent eating and health behaviors: A multi-faceted view in a population-based sample. *Preventative Medicine*, 38(6), 865-75.
- 51. Daniels, S.R. (2009). The use of BMI in the clinical setting. *Pediatrics*, 124(Suppl 1), S35-S41.

## **COMPREHENSIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Ali, M.M., Fang, H., & Rizzo, J.A. (2010). Body weight, self-perception and mental health outcomes among adolescents. *The Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics*, 13,53-63.
- American Dietetic Association (2006). American Dietetic Association (2006) Position paper: Individual-,family-,school-, and community-based interventions for pediatric overweight. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 106(6), 925-45.
- AbuSabha, R. & Achterberg, C. (1997). Review of self-efficacy and locus of control for nutrition and health-related behavior. *Journal of American Dietetic Association*, 97(10), 1122-1132.
- Astrup, A. & Brand-Miller, J. (2012). Diet composition and obesity. *Lancet*, 379, (9829), 1100-1101.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. *American Psychological Association*, 44(9), 1175-1184.
- Bandura, A. (1998). Health promotion from the perspective of social cognitive theory. *Psychology and Health*, 13, 623-649.
- Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Education & Behavior*, 31(2), 143-164.
- Barlow, S.E. (2007). Expert committee recommendations regarding the prevention, assessment, and treatment of child and adolescent overweight and obesity: Summary report. *Pediatrics*, 120 (Suppl 4), S164-S192.
- Bean, M.K., Powell, P., Quinoy, A., Ingersoll, K., Wickham, E.P., & Mazzeo, S.E.(2014). Motivational Interviewing targeting diet and physical activity improves adherence to paediatric obesity treatment: Results from the MI values randomized controlled trial. *Pediatric Obesity*. Retrieved from: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24729537">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24729537</a>.

- Bock, D., Robinson, T., Seabrook, J., & Clarson, C. (2014). The Health Initiative Program for Kids (HIP Kids): Effects of a 1-year multidisciplinary lifestyle intervention on adiposity and quality of life in obese children and adolescents—a longitudinal pilot intervention study. *BMC Pediatrics*, 14, 296.
- Braet, C. (2006). Patient characteristics as predictors of weight loss after an obesity treatment for children. *Obesity (Silver Springs)*, 14, 148-155.
- Brambilla, P., Bedogni, G., Heo, M., & Pietrobelli, A. (2013) Waist circumference-to-height ratio predicts adiposity better than body mass index in children and adolescents. *International Journal of Obesity*, 37, 943-946.
- Briefel, R.R. & Johnson, C.L.(2004). Secular trends in dietary intake in the United States. *Annual Review Nutrition*, 24, 401–31.
- Brodsgaard, A., Wagner, L., Peitersen, B., Soresen, T.I., & Poulsen, I.S. (2014). Seven-to nine-year-old children's own assessment of health-related quality of life is important in preventing overweight and obesity. *Journal of Child Health Care*, 1-11. doi: 10.1177/1367493514551310.
- Cameron, A.J., Magliano, D.J., Dunstan, D.W., Zimmet, P.Z., Hesketh, K., Peeters, A., & Shaw, J.E. (2012). A bi-directional relationship between obesity and health-related quality of life: Evidence from the longitudinal AusDiab study. *International Journal of Obesity*, 36, 295-303.
- Carrel, A., Clark, R., Peterson, S., Nemeth, B., Sullivan, J., & Allen, D. (2005). Improvement in fitness, body composition, and insulin sensitivity in overweight children in a school-based exercise program. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*, 159(10), 963-968.
- Catalano, R.F., Berglund, M.L., Ryan, J.A.M., Lonczak, H.S., & Hawkins, J.D. (2004). Positive youth development in the United States: Research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. *Ann Am Acad Pol Soc Sci*, 591, 98–124
- Centers for Disease Control (2015). *About Child & Teen BMI*. Retrieved from: http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/childrens\_bmi/about\_childrens\_bmi.html

- Chang, Y., & Gable, S. (2013). Predicting weight status stability and change from fifth grade to eighth grade: The significant role of adolescents' social-emotional well-being. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 52, 448-455.
- Cujpers, P. Boluijt, P., & VanStraten, A. (2008). Screening of depression in adolescents through the internet: Sensitivity and specificity of two screening questionnaires. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 17, 32-38.
- Cunningham, S.A., Kramer, M.R., & Narayan, K.M. (2014). Incidence of childhood obesity in the United States. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370,(5), 403-411.
- Daniels, S.R. (2009). The use of BMI in the clinical setting. *Pediatrics*, 124(Suppl 1), S35-S41.
- DeBar, L.L., Stevens, V.J., Perrin, N., Wu, P, Pearson, J., YarboroughB.J., & Lynch, F. (2012). A primary care-based, multicomponent lifestyle Intervention for overweight adolescent females. *Pediatrics*, 129(3), ee611-620.
- De Niet, J., Timman, R., Jongejan, M., Passchier, J., & van der Akker, E. (2011). Predictors of participant dropout at various stages of a pediatric lifestyle program. *Pediatrics*, 127(1), e164-e170.
- Dhaliwal, J., Nosworthy, N.M., Holt, N.L., Zwaigenbaum, L., Rasquinha, A., & Ball G.D. (2014). Attrition and management of pediatric obesity: An integrative review. *Childhood Obesity*, 10(6), 461-73.
- Dobbels, F., Decorte, A., & Roskams, A. (2010). Health-related quality of life, treatment adherence, symptom experience and depression in adolescent renal transplant patients. *Pediatric Transplantation*, 14(2), 216-223.
- Dolinsky, D.H., Armstrong, S.C., & Ostbye, T. (2012). Predictors of attrition from a clinical pediatric obesity treatment program. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 51(12), 1168-1174.
- Epstein, L.H., Valoski, A., Wing, R.R., McCurley, J. (1994) Ten-year outcomes of behavioral family-based treatment for childhood obesity. *Health Psychology* 13(5), 373-383.

- Epstein, L., Wing, R., Koeske, R., Andrasik F, & Ossip, D. (1981). Child and parent weight loss in family-based behavior modification programs. *J Consult Clin* Psychol, 44, 674-85.
- Finkelstein, E.A., Trogdon, J.G., Cohen, J.W., & Dietz, W. (2009). Annual medical spending attributable to obesity: Payer-and service-specific estimates. *Health Affairs*, 28, w822-w831.
- Finkelstein, E.A., Graham, W.C.K., & Malhotra, R. (2014) Lifetime direct medical costs of childhood obesity. *Pediatrics*, 133(5), 854-862.
- Fitzgerald, A., Heary, C., Kelly, C., Nixon, E., & Shevil, M. (2012). Self-efficacy for healthy eating and peer support for unhealthy eating are associated with adolescents' food intake patterns. *Appetite*, 63, 48-58.
- Fryar, C.D., Carroll, M.D., & Ogden, C.L. (2010). Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and esteem obesity among adults: United States, trends 1960—1962 through 2009-2010. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Atlanta, GA. Retrieved from: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity\_adult\_09\_10/obesity\_adult\_09\_10.htm">www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity\_adult\_09\_10/obesity\_adult\_09\_10.htm</a>
- Fontaine, K.R. & Cheskin, L.J. (1997). Self-efficacy, attendance, and weight loss in obesity treatment. *Addictive Behavior*, 22(4), 567–570.
- Fredericks. E.M., Magee, J.C., Opipari-Arrigan, L., Schieck, V., Well, A., & Lopez, M. (2008). Adherence and health-related quality of life in adolescent liver transplant recipients. *Pediatric Transplantation*, 12(3), 289-299.
- Fulkerson, J.A., Sherwood, N.E., Perry, C.L., Neumark-Sztainer, D., & Story, M. (2004). Depressive symptoms and adolescent eating and health behaviors: A multifaceted view in a population-based sample. *Preventative Medicine*, 38(6), 865-75.
- Griffiths, L.J., Parsons, T.J., & Hill, A.J. (2010). Self-esteem and quality of life in obese children and adolescents: A systematic review. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 5, 282-304.
- Gruber, K.J., & Haldeman, L.A. (2009). Using the family to combat childhood and adult obesity. *Preventative Chronic Disease*, 6(3), A106.

- Golan, M., Weizman, A., Apter, A., & Fainaru, M. (1998). Parents as the exclusive agents of change in the treatment of childhood obesity. *American Journal Clinical Nutrition*; 67, 1130–1135.
- Goodman, E. & Whitaker, R.C. (2002). A prospective study of the role of depression in the development and persistence of adolescent obesity. *Pediatrics*, 110, 497-504.
- Goodman, E., Hinden, B.R., & Khandelwals, S. (2000). Accuracy of teen and parental reports of obesity and body mass index. *Pediatrics*, 106(1), 52-58.
- Gortmaker, S.L., Must, A., Perrin, J.M., Sobol, A.M., & Dietz, W.H. (1993). Social and economic consequences of overweight in adolescence and young adulthood. *NEJM*, 329, 1008-1012.
- Gouveia, M.J., Frontini, R., Canavarro, M.C., & Moreira, H. (2014). Quality of life and psychological functioning in pediatric obesity: The role of body image dissatisfaction between girls and boys of different ages. *Quality Life Research*, 23, 2629-2638.
- Halfon, N. & Hochstein, M. (2002). Life course health development: An integrated framework for developing health, policy, and research. *Milbank Q*, 80 (3), 433–479.
- Hampl, S., Paves, H., Laubscher, K., & Eneli, I. (2011) Patient engagement and attrition in pediatric obesity clinics and programs: Results and recommendations. *Pediatrics*, 128(Suppl 2), S59-64.
- Harris, K. M., Halpern, C. T., Whitsel, E., Hussey, J., Tabor, J., Entzel, P., & Udry, J. R. (2009). The national longitudinal study of adolescent health: Research design.
- Hawthorne, G., Richardson, J., & Osborne, R. (1999). The Assessment of Quality of Life (AQoL) instrument: A psychometric measure of health-related quality of life. *Quality Life Research*, 8, 209-24.
- Haynes, R.B., McDonald, H., Garg, A.X., & Montaque, P. (2002). Interventions for helping patients to follow prescriptions for medications. *Cochrane Database of systematic Reviews*, 2: CD000011.

- Hayward, J., Millar, L., Petersen, S., Swinburn, B., & Lewis, A.J. (2014). When ignorance is bliss: Weight perception, body mass index and quality of life in adolescents. *International Journal of Obesity*, 938, 1328-1334.
- Hernandez, R.G., Marcell, A.V., Garcia, J., Amankwah, E.K., Cheng, T.L., (2015). Predictors of favorable growth patterns during the obesity epidemic among U.S. school children. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 54(5), 458-468.
- Hettema, J., Steele, J., & Miller, W.R. (2005) Motivational interviewing. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 1, 91-111.
- Hill, J.O. & Peters, J.C. (2013). Commentary: Physical activity and weight control. *International Journal Epidemiology*, 42(6), 1840–42.
- Hillman, J.B., Dorn, L.D., & Huang, B. (2010). Association of anxiety and depressive symptoms and adiposity among adolescent females using dual energy x-ray absorptiometry. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 49(7), 671-677.
- Ho, M., Garnett, S.P., Bauer, L., Burrows, T., Stewart, T., Neve, M., & Collins, C. (2012). Effectiveness of lifestyle interventions in child obesity: Systematic review with meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 130(6), 1647-1671.
- Hoare, E., Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M., Skouteris, H., Millar, L., Nichols, M., & Allender, S. (2015). Systematic review of mental health and well-being outcomes following community-based obesity prevention interventions among adolescents. *BMJ Open* 5: e006586.
- Honas, J.J., Early, J.L., Frederickson, D.D., & O'Brien, M.S. (2003). Predictors of attrition in a large clinic-based weight-loss program. *Obesity* Research, 11(7), 888-894.
- Hoyt, L.T., Chase-Lansdale, P.L., McDade, T.W., Adam, E.K. (2012). Positive youth, healthy adults: Does positive well-being in adolescence predict better perceived health and fewer risky health behaviors in young adulthood? *Journal Adolescent Health*, 50(1), 66-73.
- IBM Corp. Released 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.

- Ickes, M.J., McMullen, J., Haider, T., & Sharma, M. (2014). Global school-based childhood obesity interventions: A review. *International Journal Environmental Research Public Health*, 11(9), 8940-8961.
- Janicke, D.M., Finney J.W., & Riley, A.W. (2001). Children's healthcare use: A prospective investigation of factors related to care-seeking. *Med Care*, 39, 990-1001.
- Jansen, P.W., Mensah, F.K., Clifford, S., Nicholson, J.M., & Wake, M. (2013). Bidirectional associations between overweight and health-related quality of life from 4-11 years: Longitudinal study of Australian children. *International Journal of Obesity*, 37, 1307-1313.
- Jelalian, E. & Hart, C.N. (2009). Pediatric obesity. In M.C. Roberts & R.G. Steele (Eds.), Handbook of Pediatric Psychology. New York: The Guilford Press, 446-463.
- Jelalian, E., Hart, C.N., Mehlenbeck, R.S, Lloyd-Richardson, E.E., Kaplan, Flynn-O'Brien, K.T, & J.D...Wing, R.R. (2008). Predictors of attrition and weight loss in an adolescent weight control program. *Obesity*, 16, 1318–1323.
- Jelalian, E., Wember, Y.M., Bungeroth, H., & Birmaher, V. (2007). Practitioner review: Bridging the gap between research and clinical practice in pediatric obesity. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 48, 115-127.
- Jensen, C.D., Aylward, B.S, & Steele, R.G. (2012). Predictors of attendance in a practical clinical trial of two pediatric weight management interventions. *Obesity*, 20, 2250-2256.
- Jakubowski, K.P., Black, J.J., El Nokali, N.E., Belendluk, J.A., Hannon, T.S., Arsianian, S.A., & Rofey, D.L. (2012). Parents' readiness to change affects BMI reduction outcomes in adolescents with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Obesity*, 2012, Article ID 298067 1-12. Doi:10.1155/2012/298067
- Kalarchian, M.A., Levine, M.D., Arslanian, S.A., Ewing, L.J., Houck, P.R, Cheny, Y,...& Marcus, M.D. (2009). Family-based treatment of severe pediatric obesity: Randomized, controlled trial. *Pediatrics*, 124(4), 1060–1068.

- Keating, C.L., Moodie, M. L, & Swinburn, B.A. (2011). The health-related quality of life of overweight and obese adolescents-a study measuring body mass index and adolescent-reported perceptions. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 6(5-6), 434-441.
- Kiernan, M., Brown, S.D., Schoffman, D.E., Lee, K., King, A.C., Taylor, C.B...& Perri, M.G. (2013). Promoting healthy weight with "stability skills first": A randomized trial. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 81(2), 336-346.
- Kitscha, C.E., Brunet, K., Farmer, A., & Mager, D.R. (2009). Reasons for non-return to a pediatric weight management program. *Can J Diet Pract Res*, 70,(2) 89–94.
- Klesges, R.C., Stein, R.J., Eck, L.H., Isbell, T.R., & Klesges, L.M. (1991). Parental influence on food selection in young children and its relationship to childhood obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 53(4), 859-864.
- Kolodziejczyk, J.M., Gutzmer, K., Wright, S.M., Arredondo, E.M., Hill, L.... Norman, G.J. (2015). Influence of specific individual and environmental variables on the relationship between body mass index and health-related quality of life in overweight and obese adolescents. *Quality Life Res*, 24, 251-261.
- Kubzansky, L.D., Gilthorpe, M.S., & Goodman, E. (2012). A prospective study of psychological distress and weight status in adolescent/young adults. *Ann Behav Med*, 43, 219-228.
- Latner, J.D. & Stunkard, A.J. (2003). Getting worse: The stigmatization of obese children. *Obesity Research*, 11, 452-456.
- Lawler, M. & Nixon, E. (2011). Body dissatisfaction among adolescent boys & girls: The effects of body mass, peer appearance culture and internalization of appearance ideals. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(1), 59-71.
- LeBlanc, E.S., O'Connor, E., Whitlock, E.P., Patnode, C.D., & Kapka, T. (2011) Effectiveness of primary care-relevant treatments for obesity in adults: A systematic evidence review of the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Annals of Intern Med.* 155, 434-447.

- Liang, J., Matheson, B.E., Kaye, W.H., & Boutelle, K.N. (2014). Neurocognitive correlates of obesity and obesity-related behaviors in children and adolescents. *Int J Obes*, 38(4): 494-506.
- Lloyd-Richardson, E.E., Jelalian, E., Sato, A.F., Hart, C.N., Mehlenbeck, R., & Wing, R.R. (2012). Two-year follow-up of an adolescent behavioral weight control intervention. *Pediatrics*, 130(2), e281-e288.
- Loth, K.A., Mond, J., Wall, M., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2011). Weight status and emotional well-being: Longitudinal findings from Project EAT. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 36(2), 216-225.
- Lowry, K.W., Sallinen, B.J.& .Janicke, D.M. (2007). The effects of weight management programs on self-esteem in pediatric overweight populations. *Journal Pediatric Psychology* 32,1179-95.
- Lubans, D.R., Morgan, P.J., Okely, A.D., Dewar, D., Collins, C.E....& Plotnikoff, R.C. (2012). Preventing obesity among adolescent girls: One-year outcomes of the nutrition and enjoyable activity for teen girls (NEAT Girls) cluster randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, 166(9), 821-7.
- Ludwig, D. (2007). Childhood obesity: The shape of things to come. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 357, 2325-27.
- Mazess, R.B., Barden, H.S., Bisek, J.P., & Hanson, J. (1990). Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry for total-body and regional bone-mineral and soft-tissue composition. *American Journal Clinical Nutrition*, 51(6), 1106-1112.
- Michelini, I., Falchi A.G., Muggia, C, Grecchi, I., Montagna, E., De Silvestri, A., & Tinelli C. (2014). Early dropout predictive factors in obesity treatment. *Nutrition Research and Practice* 8(1), 94-102.
- Mond, H., van den Berg, P., Boutelle, K., Hannan, P., & Neumark-Sxtainer, D. (2011). Obesity, body dissatisfaction, and emotional well-being in early and late adolescence: Findings from the project EAT study. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 48(4), 373-378.

- Morrison, K.M., Shin, S., Tarnopolsky, M., & Taylor, V.H. (2015). Association of depression & health related quality of life with body composition in children and youth with obesity. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 172, 18-23.
- Muzaffar, H., Chapman-Novakofski, K., Castelli, D.M., Scherer, J.A. (2014). The HOT (Healthy Outcome for Teens) project. Using a web-based medium to influence attitude, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control and intention for obesity and type 2 diabetes prevention. *Appetite*, 72, 82-9.
- Nadar, P.R. (1993). The role of the family in obesity prevention and treatment. *Ann NY Acad Sci*, 699, 147-153.
- National Organization of Nurse Practitioner Faculties (NONPF), (2012). *Nurse Practitioner Core Competencies*. Retrieved on October 26, 2015 from: http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.nonpf.org/resource/resmgr/competencies/npcorecompetenciesfinal2012.pdf
- Naukkarinen, A., Rissanen, A., Kaprio, J., & Pietilainen, K.H. (2012) Causes and consequences of obesity: The contribution of recent twin studies. *International Journal of Obesity*. 36, 1017-24.
- Neumark-Sztainer, D., Falkner, N., Story, M., Perry, C., Hannan, P.J., & Mulert, S. (2002). Weight-teasing among adolescents: Correlations with weight status and disordered eating behaviors. *International Journal Obesity Related Metabolic Disorders*, 26(1), 123-31.
- Neumark-Sztainer, D. Story, M., Hannan. P.J., & Rex, J. (2003). New moves: A school-based obesity prevention program for adolescent girls. *Preventive Medicine*, 37, 41-51
- Neumark-Sztainer, D., Wall, M., Guo, J., Story, M., Haines, J., & Eisenberg, M. (2006). Obesity, disordered eating, and eating disorders in a longitudinal study of adolescents: How do dieters fare 5 years later? *Journal American Dietetics Association*, 106(4), 559-68.
- Ng, M., Fleming, T., Robinson, M., Thomson, B., Graetz, N...., & Gakidou, E.(2014). Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: A systematic analysis for Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*, 384 (9945),766-81.

- Nguyen, B., Shrewsbury, V.A., O'Connor, J., Steinbeck, K.S, Lee, A...& Baur, L.A. (2012). Twelve-month outcomes of the Loozit randomized controlled trial: A community-based healthy lifestyle program for overweight and obese adolescents. *Arch Pediatric Adolescent Medicine*, 166(2), 170-177.
- Nguyen, B., Shrewsbury, V.A., O'Connor, J., Steinbeck, K.S., Hill, A.J., Shah, S....& Baur, L.A. (2013) Two-year outcomes of an adjunctive telephone coaching and electronic contact intervention for adolescent weight-loss maintenance: The Loozit randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Obesity*. 37: 468-472.
- Ogden, C.L., Carroll, M.D., Kit, B.K.,& Flegal, K.M. (2012). Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among U.S. children and adolescents, 1999-2010. *JAMA*, 307, 483-490.
- Onis, M., Blossner, M., & Borghi, E. (2010). Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children *American Journal Clinical Nutrition*, 92,125-1264.
- Ottova, V., Erhart, M., Rajmil, L., Dettenborn-Betz, L., & Ravens-Sieberer, U. (2012). Overweight and its impact on the health-related quality of life in children and adolescents: Results from the European KIDSCREEN survey. *Qual Life Res*, 21, 59-69.
- Oude, L.H., Baur, L., Jansen, H., Shrewsbury, V.A., & O'malley, C., & Stolk, R.P. et al. (2009). Interventions for treating obesity in children. Evidence- Based Child Health: *Cochrane Review Journal*, *4*, 1571-1729.
- Park, M.H., Falconer, C.L., Croker, H., Saxena, S., Kessel, A.S., Viner, R.M., & Kinra, S. (2014). Predictors of health-related behavior change in parents of overweight children in England. *Preventative Medicine*, 62, 20-24.
- Patrick, K., Calfas, K.J., Norman, G.J., Zabinski, M.F., Sallis, J.F., Rupp. J., Covin, J., & Cella, J. (2006). Randomized controlled trial of a primary care and home-based intervention for physical activity and nutrition behaviors: PACE+ for adolescents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*, 160(2), 128-36.
- Pitrou, I., Shojaei T., Wanzana, A., Gilbert, F., & Kovess-Masfety, V. (2010) Child overweight, associated psychopathology and social functioning: A French school-based survey in 6-11 year old children. *Obesity (Silver spring)*, 18, 809-817.

- Popkin, B.M., Conde, W., Hou, N., & Monteiro, C. (2006). Is there a lag globally in overweight trends for children compared with adults. *Obesity*, 14, 1846-1853.
- Prasad, S.A., & Cerny, F.J. (2002). Factors that influence adherence to exercise and their effectiveness: Application to cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 34, 66-72.
- Prentice, A & Jebb, S. (2004). Energy intake/physical activity interactions in the homeostasis of body weight regulation. *Nutr Review*, 62(s2), S98-S104.
- Prochaska, J.O., Redding, C.A., & Evers, K. (2002). *The Transtheoretical Model and Stages of Change*. In K. Glanz, B.K. Rimer, & F.M. Lewis (Eds.). *Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed). San Francisco; Jossey-Bass.
- Pruder, J.J. & Munsch, S. (2010). Psychological correlates of childhood obesity. *International J of Obesity*, 34, S37-S43.
- Puhl, R.M. & Latner, J.D. (2007). Stigma, obesity, and the health of the nation's children. *Psychological Bulletin*, 133, 557-580.
- Puhl, R.M. & Luedicke, J. (2012) Weight-based victimization among adolescents in the school setting: Emotional reactions and coping behaviors. *J Youth Adolesc*, 41, 27-40.
- Rancourt, D. & Prinstein, M.J. (2010). Peer status and victimization as possible reinforcements of adolescent girls' and boys' weight-related behaviors and cognitions. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 35(4), 354-367.
- Raynor, H.A., Saporito, J., & Khatri, P. (2014) Changes for life: A primary care-based multidisciplinary program for obesity in children and families in obesity. In V. Brennan, S.K. Rumanyika, & E. Zambran. (Eds). Interventions in Underserved Communities: Evidence and Direction (pp. 275-281). Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Press.
- Reilly, J.J. & Kelly, J. (2010) Long-term impact of overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence on morbidity and premature mortality in adulthood: A systematic review. *International Journal of Obesity*, 35 (7), 891-98.

- Reilly, J.J., Kelnar, C.J., Alexander, D.W., Hacking, B., & Methven, E. (2003). Health consequences of obesity: Systematic review. *Arch Dis Child*, 88, 748–752.
- Rhee, K.E., Largo, C.W., Arscott-Mills, T., Mehta, S.D., & Davis, R.K. (2005). Factors associated with parental readiness to make changes for overweight children. *Pediatrics*, 16(1), e94-101.
- Rice, J., Thombs, D., Leach, R., & Rehm, R. (2008). Successes and barriers for a youth weight management program. *Clin Pediatr*, 47, 143-147.
- Roberts, K.C., Shields, M., De Groh, M., Aziz, A., & Gilbert, J.A. (2012). Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents: Results from the 2009 to 2011 Canadian Health Measures Survey. *Health Rep*, (23), 37-41.
- Sacher, P.M., Kolotourou, M., Chadwick, P.M., Cole, T.J. Lawson, M.S., Lucus, A., & Singhal, A. (2010). Randomized controlled trial of the MEND program: A family-based community intervention for childhood obesity. *Obesity*, 18(1), S62-S68.
- Savoye, M., Nowicka, P., Shaw, M., Sunkyung, Y., Dziura, J...&Caprio, S. (2011). Long-term results of an obesity program in an ethnically diverse pediatric population. *Pediatrics*, 127, 402–410.
- Sawyer, M.G., Pfeiffer, S., & Spence, S.H. (2009). Life events, coping and depressive symptoms among young adolescents: A one-year prospective study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 117, 48-54.
- Schafer, L., McCaul, K., & Glasgow, R. (1986). Supportive and non-supportive family behaviors: Relationships to adherence and metabolic control in persons with type I diabetes. *Diabetes Car*, 9(2), 179-185.
- Schwimmer, J.B., Tasha, M.F, & Varni, J.W. (2003). Health-related quality of life of severely obese children and adolescents. *JAMA*, 289(14), 1813-1819.
- Sharma, M. & Ickes, J. (2008). Psychological determinants of childhood and adolescent obesity. *JSBHS*, 2, 33-49.

- Shrewsbury, V.A., Steinbeck, K.S., Torvaldsen, S., & Baur, L.A. (2011) The role of parents in pre-adolescent and adolescent overweight and obesity treatment: A systematic review of clinical recommendations. *Obesity Reviews*, 12, 759-769.
- Sigal, R.J., Alberga, A.S., Goldfield, G.S., Prud'homme, D., Hadjiyannakis, S....& Kenny, G.P. (2014). Effects of aerobic training, resistance training, or both on percentage body fat and cardiometabolic risk markers in obese adolescents. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 168 (11), 1006-1014.
- Skelton, J.A. & Beech, B.M. (2011). Attrition in paediatric weight management: A review of the literature and new directions. *Obesity Rev*, 12, e273-e281.
- Skelton, J., Irby, M., Beech, B., & Rhodes, S.D. (2012). Attrition and family participation in obesity treatment programs: Clinicians' perceptions. *Academic Pediatrics*, 12(5), 420-428.
- Skelton, J.A., Goff, D.C., Ip, E., & Beech, B.M. (2011). Attrition in a multidisciplinary pediatric weight management clinic. *Child Obesity*, 7(3), 185-193.
- Stecher, V.J., McEvoy, B., Becker, M.H., & Rosenstock, I.M (1986). The role of self-efficacy in achieving health behavior change. *Health Education Quarterly*, 13(1), 73-91.
- Stern, M., Mazzeo, S.E., Gerke, C.K., Porter, J.S., Bean, M.K., & Laver, J.H. (2007). Gender, ethnicity, psychosocial factors, and quality of life among severely overweight, treatment-seeking adolescents. *J Pediatric Psychology*, 32(1), 90-94.
- Swallen, K., Reither, E., Haas, S., & Meier, A. (2005). Overweight, obesity, and health-related quality of life among adolescents: A national longitudinal study of adolescent health. *Pediatrics*, 115(2), 340-347.
- Swinburn, B. (2013). Commentary: Physical activity as a minor player in the obesity epidemic: What are the deep implications? *International Journal Epidemiology*, 42,1838–40.
- Swinburn, B., Sacks, G., & Ravussin, E. (2009). Increased food energy supply is more than sufficient to explain the US epidemic of obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 90, 1453–56.

- Tanofsky-Kraff, M., Marcus, M.D., & Yanovski, S.Z. (2008). Loss of control eating disorder in children age 12 years and younger: Proposed research criteria. *Eat Behav*, 9, 360-365.
- Tershakovec, A.M. & Kuppler, K. (2003). Ethnicity, insurance type, and followup in a pediatric weight management program. *Obesity*, 11, 17–20.
- Theim, K.R., Sinton, M.M., Goldschmidt A.B., Van Buren, D.J., Doyle, A.C. Saelens, B.E. ... & Wifley, D.E. (2013). Adherence to behavioral targets and treatment: Attendance during a pediatric weight control trial. *Obesity*, 21(2), 1-7.
- Tiggelman. D., van de Ven. M., van Schayck. O., & Engels, R. (2015). Longitudinal associations between asthma control, medication adherence, and quality of life among adolescents: Results from a cross-lagged analysis. *Qual Life Res*, 24, 2067-2074.
- Tile, H.& Kaser, A. (2011). Gut microbiome, obesity, and metabolic dysfunction. *J Clin Invest*, 121, 2126–32.
- Tompkins C., Hopkins, J., Goddard, L., & Brock, D. (2012). The effect of an unstructured, moderate to vigorous, before-school physical activity program in elementary school children on academics, behavior and health. *BMC Public Health* 12(300), 1-5
- Turnbaugh, P.J., Ley, R.E., Mahowald, M.A., Magrini, V., Mardis, E.R., &Gordon, J.I. (2006). An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature*, 444,1027–31.
- Turner, T., Spruijt-Metz, D., Wen, C.K., & Hingle, M.D. (2015). Prevention and treatment of pediatric obesity using mobile and wireless technologies: A systematic review. *Pediatr Obes*, [Epub ahead of print].
- Tourangeau, K., Nord, C., Le, T., Soronongon, A.G., & Najarian, M. (2009). Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten class of 1998-1999 (ECLS-K), combined users manual for the ECLS-K eight-grade and K-8 full sample data files and electronic codebooks (NCES 2009-004). National Center for Education Statistics. Washington, DC: Institute of Education Scienes, U.S. Department of Education.

- Ul-Haq, Z., Mackay, D.F., Fenwick, E., & Pell, J.P. (2012). Impact of comorbidity on the association between body mass index and health-related quality of life: A Scotland-wide cross-sectional study of 5608 participants. *BMC Public Health*, 12, 143.
- Ul-Haq, Z., Mackay, D.F., Fenwick, E., & Pell, J.P. (2013). Meta-analysis of the association between body mass index and health-related quality of life among children and adolescents, assessed using the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory Index. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 162(2), 280-286.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration (2007). Guidance for industry: Developing products for weight management (pp. 1-16). Retrieved from http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformatio n/Guidances/ucm071612.pdf.
- Uzark, K.C., Becker, M.H., Dielman, T.E., & Rocchini, A.P. (1987). Psychosocial predictors of compliance with a weight control intervention for obese children and adolescents. *J Compliance Health Care*. 2(2), 167-178.
- Van, V.L., Braet, C., Goossens, L., & Mels, S. (2009). Psychiatric disorders and symptom severity in referred versus non-referred overweight children and adolescents. *Eur. Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 18(3), 164-173.
- van den Akker, E.L.T., Puiman, P.J., Groen, M., Timman, R., Jongehan, M., & Trijsburg, W. (2007). A cognitive behavioral therapy program for overweight children. *J Pediatr*, 151, 280–283.
- Vanhala, M.L., Keinanen-Klukaanniemi, S.M., Kaikkonen, K.M., Laitinen, J.H., & Korpelainen, R.I. (2011). Factors associated with parental recognition of a child's overweight status—a cross sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 11(665), 1-7.
- Varni, J.W., Burwinkle T.M., Seid, M, Skarr, D. (2003). The PedsQL4.0 as a pediatric population health measure: Feasibility, reliability and validity. *Ambulatory Pediatr*, 3:3329-41.
- Vaughan, C.A. & Halpern, C.T. (2010). Gender differences in depressive symptoms during adolescence: The contributions of weight-related concerns and behaviors. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 20(2), 389-419.

- Vermiere, E., Hearnshaw, H., Van Royen, P., & Denekens, J. (2001). Patient adherence to treatment: Three decades of research. A comprehensive review. *J Clin Pharm Therapeutics*, 26, 331-42.
- Vignolo, M., Rossi, F., Bardazza, G., Pistorio, A., Parodi, A...& Aicardi, G. (2008). Five-year follow-up of a cognitive-behavioural lifestyle multidisciplinary programme for childhood obesity outpatient treatment. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 62(9), 1047-1057
- Wadden, T.A. & Letizia, K.A. (1992). Predictors of attrition and weight loss in patients treated by moderate and severe caloric restriction. In: Wadden T, VanItallie T (eds), *Treatment of the Seriously Obese Patient (pp/ 383-410)*. New York, NY: Guilford.
- Wadden, T.A., West, D.S., Neiberg, R.H., Wing, R.R., Ryan, D.H... Vitolins, M.Z. (2009). One-year weight loss in the Look AHEAD study: Factors associated with success. *Obesity*, 17, 713-722.
- Walker, S.E., Smolkin, M.E., O'Leary, M.L., Cluett, S.B., Norwood, V.F., DeBoer, M.D., & Gurka, M.J. (2012). Predictors of retention and BMI loss or stabilization in obese youth enrolled in a weight loss intervention. *Obes Res Clin Pract*, 6:e330–e339.
- Walpole, B., Dettmer, E., Morrongiello, B., McCindle, B., & Hamilton, J. (2011). Motivational interviewing as an intervention to increase adolescent self-efficacy and promote weight loss: Methodology and design. *BMC Public Health*, 11:459, 1-9.
- Wake, M., Salmon, L., Water, E., Wright, M., Hesketh, K. (2002). Parent–reported health status of overweight and obese Australian primary school children: A cross-sectional population survey. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 26, 717-24.
- Wang, F., Wild, T.C., Kipp, W., Kuhle, S., & Veugelers, P.J. (2012). The Influence of childhood obesity on the development of self-esteem. *Health Rep*, 20, 21-27.
- Weber, D.R., Moore, R.H., Leonard, M.B., & Zemel, B.S. (2013). Fat and lean BMI reference curves in children and adolescents and their utility in identifying excess adiposity compared with BMI and percentage body fat. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 98, 49-56.

- West, D.S., Gorin, A.A., Subak, L.L, Foster, G., Bragg, C., Hecht, J....& Wing, R.R. (2011). A motivation-focused weight loss maintenance program is an effective alternative to a skill-based approach. *Int J Obesity*, 35(2), 259-269.
- Whitaker, R.C., Wright, J.A., Pepe M.S., Seidel, K.D., & Dietz, W.H. (1997), Predicting obesity in young adulthood from childhood and parental obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 337, 869–73.
- White, M.A., Martin, P.D., Newton. R.L., Walden, H.M., York-Crowe, E.E....Williamson, D.A. (2004). Mediators of Weight Loss in a Family-Based Intervention Presented over the Internet. *Obesity Research*. 12(7), 1050-1059.
- Whitlock, E.P., William, S.B., Gold, R., Smith, P.R., & Shipman, S.A. (2005). Screening and interventions for childhood overweight: A summary of evidence for the US Preventive Task Force. *Pediatrics*, 116 (1), e135-44.
- Whitlock, E.P., O'Connor, E.A., Williams, S.B, Beil, T.L., & Lutz, K.W. (2010). Effectiveness of weight-management interventions in children: A targeted systematic review for the USPSTF. *Pediatrics*, 125, e396-418.
- Wilfley, D.E., Stein, R.I., Saelens, B.E., Mockus, D.S., Matt, G.E, Hayden-Wade, H.A, Welch, R.R., Schechtman, K.B., Thompson, P.A., & Epstein, L.H. (2007). Efficacy of maintenance treatment approaches for childhood overweight: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 298(14), 1661-73.
- Wilfley, D.E., Van Buren, D., Theim, K.R., Stein, R.I., Saelens, B.E., Ezzet, F.,...& Epstein, L.H. (2010). The use of biosimulation in the design of a novel multi-level weight loss maintenance program for overweight children. *Obesity*, 18(Suppl 1), S91-S98.
- Williams, N.A., Coday, M., Somes, G., Tylavsky, F.A., Richey, P.A., & Hare, M. (2010). Risk factors for poor attendance in a family-based pediatric obesity intervention program for young children. *J Dev Behav Pediatr*, 31, 705-712.
- Williams, J., Wake, M., Hesketh, K., Maher, E., & Waters, E. (2005). Health-related quality of life of overweight and obese children. *JAMA*, 293(1), 70-76.

- Withrow, D. & Alter, D.A. (2011). The economic burden of obesity worldwide: A systematic review of the direct costs of obesity. *Obesity Review*, 12, 1131-1141.
- Wright, J.A., Adams, W.G., Laforge, R.G., Berry, D., & Friedman, R.H. (2014).

  Assessing parental self-efficacy for obesity prevention related behaviors.

  International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 11(53), 1-9.
- Wrotniak, B.H., Epstein, L.H., Paluch, R.A., & Roemmich, J.N. (2005). The relationship between parent and child self-reported adherence and weight loss. *Obesity Research*. 13(6). 1089-1096.
- World Health Organization. (1948). *Constitution of the World Health Organization*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 1948.
- Zeller, M., Kirk, S., Claytor, R., Khoury, P., Grieme, J., Santangelo, M., & Daniels, S. (2004) Predictors of attrition from a pediatric weight management program . *J Pediatr*, 144, 466-470.
- Zeller, M.H., Reiter-Purtill, J., & Ramey, C. (2008). Negative peer perceptions of obese children in the classroom environment. *Obesity*, 14, 755-762.